Fear not, I am with you; be not dismayed; I am your God. I will strengthen you, and help you, and uphold you with my right hand of justice.

Isaiah 41:10

# University of Alberta

# Dual Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases-2 in Thoracic Aortic Aneurysm

by

# Ji Won Lee

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

# Department of Physiology

©Ji Won Lee

Spring 2014

## Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

# DEDICATION

to

My parents Jangkyun & Seounghee

&

My brother Youngsang

## ABSTRACT

With matrix metalloproteinases-2 (MMP2) deficiency, we observed thoracic aortic aneurysm in 70% of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice but no abdominal aortic aneurysm following four weeks of angiotensin II (Ang II) infusion. We found markedly suppressed recoil properties in the thoracic aorta of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II mice. mRNA and protein levels of elastin, but not collagen, were significantly reduced in the thoracic aorta of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II compared to WT-Ang II mice. This reduction in elastin levels was due to significantly reduced TGFβ-Smad signaling pathway that mediates synthesis of extracellular components. Thus, the adverse remodeling in the thoracic aorta of MMP2-deficient mice was associated with decreased synthesis of extracellular matrix proteins without concomitant upregulation of proteolytic activities. These findings suggest a protective role of MMP2 in the development and progression of aortic aneurysm, and as such inhibition of MMP2 may exacerbate vascular remodeling and lead to development of thoracic aortic aneurysm.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge many people to whom I am greatly indebted. This thesis and all that I have accomplished during my Master's program would not have been possible without their support and encouragement.

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Zamaneh Kassiri for giving me this fascinating project to work on. She also gave me many opportunities to get involved in collaborations to apply and expand my knowledge to other related cardiovascular projects. Her valuable feedbacks, guidance and encouragement have guided me throughout my graduate studies. I am extremely thankful and grateful for her mentorship.

I would like to thank Dr. Gavin Oudit and my Supervisory Committee members Dr. Sean McMurtry, Dr. Carlos Fernandez-Patron, and Dr. Sandra Davidge for their valuable comments. I would like to thank all members in Dr. Kassiri's and Dr. Oudit's laboratories. In particular, I would like to acknowledge Ratnadeep, Vijay, Sue, Dong, Abhijit, and Mengcheng for valuable discussions and feedbacks. I also would like to express my gratitude to my friends especially Jungyeon, Harneet and Alicia for their support and encouragement.

Finally, and most importantly, I am deeply indebted to my family. My parents, Jangkyun and Seounghee, my brother Yongsang, and my aunt Ambrosia for their lifelong encouragement, support, guidance, and prayer. My achievements are the result of their love and dedication.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Introduction overview	2
1.2 The cardiovascular system	2
1.2.1 Structure of the heart	2
1.2.2 Structure of the vasculature	3
1.3 Structure of the aortic wall in normal physiology	3
1.4 Regional heterogeneity within the aorta	5
1.5 The extracellular matrix (ECM)	5
1.5.1 ECM remodeling	5
1.5.2 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs)	6
1.5.3 Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs)	8
1.6 Types of vascular remodeling	12
1.7 Aortic aneurysm	13
1.8 Clinical studies on aortic aneurysm	14
1.8.1 Classification	14
1.8.2 Histopathology of aortic aneurysm	14
1.8.3 Abdominal aortic aneurysm	14
1.8.4 Thoracic aortic aneurysm	16
1.8.5 Clinical presentations and complications	19
1.8.6 Treatments	20
1.9 Role of the ECM in aortic aneurysm	22
1.9.1 Alterations in expression of MMPs and TIMPs in aortic aneurysm	22
1.9.2 Role of MMP2 in aortic aneurysm	23
1.9.3 Role of MMP2 in TGFβ signaling pathway	24
1.10 The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system	27
1.11 Animal studies on aortic aneurysm	29
1.11.1 Experimental models to induced aortic aneurysm	29
1.11.2 Genetically engineered mice	30
1.12 Hypothesis and objective	31
1.12.1 Hypothesis	31
1.12.2 Objective	32

Chapter 2 Materials and Methods	3
2.1 Animal Care	4
2.2 Genotyping	4
2.2.1 Isolation of DNA from toe	4
2.2.2 MMP2 Multiplex Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	5
2.3 Experimental animal disease model	7
2.4 Tissue Collection	8
2.4.1 Mortality and autopsy	8
2.4.2 Tissue collection from WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	
2.5 In vivo aortic structure and function assessment	9
2.5.1 Tail Cuff Blood Pressure Measurement	9
2.5.2 Ultrasound Imaging of aorta	9
2.6 Histological analysis	0
2.6.1 Gomori Trichrome (GT) stain	0
2.6.2 Verhoeff-Van Gieson (VVG) stain	1
2.7 RNA expression analysis	1
2.7.1 RNA extraction	1
2.7.2 Taqman RT-PCR	2
2.8 Protein analysis	6
2.8.1 Protein extraction	6
2.8.2. Protein quantification	7
2.8.3 Western blotting	8
2.8.4 In vitro Gelatin zymography 5	1
2.8.5 Quantification of bands on Western blots and gelatin zymography 52	3
2.9 Elastase <i>in vitro</i> activity assay	3
2.10 Isolation of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) for cell culture 54	4
2.11 Statistical analysis	5
Chapter 3 Results	6
3.1 Regional heterogeneity of the expression levels of ECM structural proteins, MMPs and TIMPs between thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT mice 5	
3.2 MMP2-deficient mice develop thoracic aortic aneurysm (TAA) following 4 weeks of systemic Ang II infusion	

3.3 MMP2-deficient mice show impaired recoil property in thoracic aorta following Ang II infusion
3.4 Blood pressure is similarly increased in WT and MMP2-deficient mice following Ang II infusion
3.5 Thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice exhibit adverse aortic remodeling following 4 weeks of Ang II infusion
3.6 Aneurysmal thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice show reduced mRNA and protein levels of elastin
3.7 WT and MMP2-deficient mice do not show significant differences in protein levels of Collagen I following 4 weeks of Ang II infusion
3.8 Expression profile of MMPs in thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT and MMP2-deficient mice
3.9 mRNA expression levels of TIMPs in thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT and MMP2-deficient mice
3.10 Thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice do not show enhanced ECM degradation
3.11 Thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice show reduced active TGFβ levels
3.12 Thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice show impaired Smad signaling pathway
3.13 Inflammatory cells do not contribute to the development of thoracic aortic aneurysm in MMP2-deficient mice
3.14 Effect of Ang II or TGFβ on vascular smooth muscle cells from WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aorta
3.15 WT and MMP2-deficient mice are protected against aortic aneurysm following 6 weeks of nicotine infusion
3.16 WT and MMP2-deficient mice develop hypertension but not aortic aneurysm following 4 weeks of phenylephrine infusion
Chapter 4 Discussion
4.1 Summary of important findings
4.2 Regional heterogeneity leads to differential response to Ang II infusion between thoracic and abdominal aortas
4.3 Imbalance between degradation and synthesis leads to thoracic aortic aneurysm in MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> -Ang II mice
4.4 MMP2 mediates TGFβ-Smad signaling pathway by activating latent TGFβ
4.5 Elastin but not collagen synthesis is impaired in MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> -Ang II aortas 89

4.6 Disparity between in vivo and in vitro data in response to Ang II	89
4.7 Aneurysm formation is specific to Ang II infusion as MMP2-deficient mi do not develop aneurysm in response to nicotine or phenylephrine infusion	
4.8 Conclusion	92
4.9 Study limitations	92
4.9.1 Whole-body knockout mice as an experimental disease model	92
4.9.2 Studies on vascular smooth muscle cell culture	93
4.10 Future directions	94
4.10.1 Rescue experiments	94
4.10.2 Influence of endothelial cells on vascular smooth muscle cells	95
4.10.3 TAA development in females	96
4.10.4 Temporal molecular and cellular events during progression of TAA MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice post-Ang II infusion	
References	98

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Toe digestion buffer	
Table 2.2 Primer sequences for MMP2 genotyping	36
Table 2.3 Reaction mix for MMP2 genotyping	
Table 2.4 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) program for MMP2 genotyp	oing37
Table 2.5 Taqman primers and probe sequences.	43
Table 2.6. RIPA Protein extraction buffer pH 7.4 in ddH2O	47
Table 2.7 Sample loading buffer pH 6.8 in ddH <sub>2</sub> O - Western blot	48
Table 2.8 Phosphate-buffered Saline (PBS) pH 7.4 in ddH2O	49
Table 2.9 Running buffer pH 8.3 in ddH2O	49
Table 2.10 Transfer buffer pH 8.3 in ddH2O	50
Table 2.11 Coomassie blue staining solution in ddH2O	50
Table 2.12 Tris-buffered Saline (TBS) pH 8.0 in ddH2O	50
Table 2.13 Western blot Membrane Stripping buffer pH 6.8 in ddH <sub>2</sub> O.	51
Table 2.14 Sample loading buffer pH 6.8 in ddH <sub>2</sub> O - Zymography)	52
Table 2.15 Substrate buffer in ddH2O – Zymography	52
Table 2.16 Polyacrylamide Gel Staining solution in ddH2O	52

 Table 2.17 Polyacrylamide Gel Destaining solution in ddH2O.....53

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Structure of aortic wall	.4
Figure 1.2 Structure of MMPs	.8
Figure 1.3 Molecular structure of TIMP1 and TIMP2	10
Figure 1.4 Computational structure of TIMP3 and TIMP4	11
Figure 1.5 Types of vascular remodeling	12
Figure 1.6 TGFβ-Smad signaling pathway	25
Figure 1.7 The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system	28
Figure 3.1 mRNA expression levels of ECM structural proteins, MMPs and TIM	Ps
in WT aortas	58
Fig 3.2 MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II mice developed thoracic aortic aneurysm	59
Figure 3.3 Representative ultrasound images of the thoracic aorta from WT and	nd
MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice	51
Figure 3.4 Averaged aortic diameter and expansion index of saline and Ang l	[]-
infused WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice6	52
Figure 3.5 Blood pressure of WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice following Ang II infusion6	53
Figure 3.6 Gomori trichrome (GT) and Verhoeff-Van Gieson (VVG) staining	of
thoracic aortas from saline and Ang II infused WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice6	54

Figure 3.7 Gomori trichrome (GT) and Verhoeff-Van Gieson (VVG) staining of
abdominal aortas from saline and Ang II infused WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice65
Figure 3.8 Protein and mRNA expression levels of α-elastin
Figure 3.9 Protein and mRNA expression levels of Collagen I67
Figure 3.10 mRNA expression levels of MMP2, MMP9, MMP13 and MT1-MMP
Figure 3.11 mRNA expression levels of TIMP1, TIMP2, TIMP3, and TIMP4 from
saline and Ang II infused WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aortas70
Figure 3.12 No significant differences in activation of MMP971
Figure 3.13 No significant differences in total elastase activity72
Figure 3.14 Protein levels of TGFβ73
Figure 3.15 Protein levels of P-Smad2, P-Smad3, Smad2, and Smad374
Figure 3.16 mRNA expression levels of inflammatory markers from WT and
MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aorta
Figure 3.17 Immunofluorescence staining for neutrophils
Figure 3.18 mRNA expression of collagen and elastin in VSMCs from WT and
MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aorta in response to Ang II or TGFβ77

Figure 3.19 WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice did not develop aortic aneurysm following
nicotine infusion
Figure 3.20 Averaged aortic diameters and expansion index of saline or nicotine
infused WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice
Figure 3.21 WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice showed hypertensive response following PE
infusion
Figure 3.22 WT and MMP2 <sup>-/-</sup> mice did not develop aortic aneurysm following PE
infusion

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAA	abdominal aortic aneurysm
ACE	angiotensin converting enzyme
Ang II	angiotensin II
ApoE	Apolipoprotein
ARB	angiotensin II receptor blocker
AT1	angiotensin II receptor, type-1
AT2	angiotensin II receptor, type-2
AV	atrioventricular
BAV	bicuspid aortic valve
BMP	bone morphogenetic proteins
BP	blood pressure
BW	body weight
cDNA	complementary DNA
COL	collagen
DD	diastolic diameter
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ECM	extracellular matrix
Eln	elastin
FBN-1	fibrilin-1
FBS	fetal bovine serum
GT	gomori trichrome
HPRT	hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase-1
HRP	horse radish peroxidase
HR	heart rate
IL	interleukin
LA	left atrium

LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
LOX	lysyl oxidase
LV	left ventricle
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MMPi	matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor (pharmacological)
mRNA	messenger RNA
miRNA	micro RNA
MT1-MMP	membrane type 1-matrix metalloproteinase
NO	nitric oxide
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PE	phenylephrine
PV	pulmonary vein
RA	right atrium
RAAS	renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNA i	RNA interference
miRNA	microRNA
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RT-PCR	real-time polymerase chain reaction
RV	right ventricle
SD	systolic diameter
SMC	smooth muscle cells
TAA	thoracic aortic aneurysm
TAD	thoracic aortic diameter
TAV	tricuspid aortic valve

TGF-β	transforming growth factor
TGF R1	Type I transforming growth factor receptor
TGF R2	Type II transforming growth factor receptor
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
VSMC	vascular smooth muscle cells
VVG	verhoeff-van gieson
WT	wild-type

# Prefix

с	centi (10 <sup>-2</sup> )
m	milli (10 <sup>-3</sup> )
μ	micro (10 <sup>-6</sup> )
n	nano (10 <sup>-9</sup> )

# Units

Hz	hertz
L	litre
m	metre
g	gram
Da	dalton
${}^{\mathfrak{C}}$	degree Celsius
d	day

# Symbols

α	alpha
β	beta

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1 Introduction overview**

Aortic aneurysm is pathological dilations of the aorta. By convention, an enlargement of 50% or greater is considered aneurysmal. As an aortic aneurysm enlarges, the aorta may eventually rupture. Because the aorta is the largest artery that delivers blood from the heart to the body, the mortality due to aortic rupture is extremely high. Collectively, aortic aneurysm represents the 13<sup>th</sup> most common cause of death in the United States, and the prevalence of the disease is increasing<sup>1</sup>. Gender, race, age, smoking, hypertension, atherosclerosis, and family history are risk factors for aortic aneurysm. Despite various clinical trials, there is insufficient evidence to prove the effectiveness of therapeutic interventions of aortic aneurysm, establish the mechanism of disease progression, and develop more effective therapeutic interventions.

## **1.2 The cardiovascular system**

The cardiovascular system is the unique network of blood vessels (arteries, capillaries and veins) that transport oxygen, nutrients and wastes products in multicellular organisms. The heart pumps the blood throughout the vascular network through systemic and pulmonary circulations.

## **1.2.1 Structure of the heart**

The heart is a four-chamber muscular pump that pumps blood to body. Ventricular wall comprises of three layers: an endocardium (inner lining of the heart), myocardium (thick muscle layer), and epicardium (a connective tissue that covers the heart). Left side of the heart pumps blood for systemic circulation and right side of the heart pumps blood for pulmonary circulation. Oxygenated blood from the lungs returns to the heart through the pulmonary vein and enters the left atrium (LA), flows to the left ventricle (LV) via the mitral valve, it is then pumped into aorta through the aortic valve, and circulates through the rest of the body. Blood from the body enters the right atrium (RA) through superior and inferior vena cava. Blood from the RA flows to the right ventricle (RV) via the tricuspid valve. The RV pumps the blood into the pulmonary artery through the pulmonary valve to the lungs for oxygenation.

### 1.2.2 Structure of the vasculature

Blood vessels allow circulation of blood to and from the heart, and to all organs and tissues. Arteries, which serve as a pressure reservoir, carry blood away from the heart to other organs. Arteries then further divided into arterioles and capillaries. Capillaries consist of a single layer of endothelial cells that allow exchange of nutrients and waste products between blood and tissue. Capillaries then merged to venules and veins. Veins, which serve as a blood reservoir, carry blood from other organs to the heart.

## **1.3 Structure of the aortic wall in normal physiology**

The aorta is the largest artery that delivers blood from the LV to the rest of body. The aortic wall is made up of three layers: the tunica intima, the tunica media, and the tunica adventitia (Figure 1.1). The innermost layer, the tunica intima, is made of endothelial cells supported by a basement membrane. Endothelial cells form a physical barrier between blood and tissue, regulate platelet function, maintain the vascular wall by regulating smooth muscle proliferation, and provide a smooth surface that allows blood to flow with low resistance<sup>2,3</sup>. The tunica intima contributes little to the mechanical properties of the aorta. The tunica media is composed of smooth muscle cells (SMCs), elastin and collagen fibers. SMCs, circumferentially and spirally oriented, regulate the diameter of the blood vessel upon contraction and relaxation. Elastin fibers work as a pressure reservoir and provide elasticity which allows the arterial wall to change diameter in response to pressure changes to regulate blood flow. Collagen fibers provide strength against pressure to prevent the arterial wall from rupturing. The tunica adventitia, the outermost layer of the aortic wall, is composed mainly of longitudinally arranged collagen fibers and fibroblasts. The tunica adventitia also contains small blood vessels that provide nutrients to the aortic wall, called the vasa vasorum.



Figure 1.1 Structure of aortic wall.

The aortic wall is made up of three layers: the tunica intima, the tunica media, and the tunica adventitia. Adapted from Tortora & Derrickson<sup>4</sup>.

## **1.4 Regional heterogeneity within the aorta**

Thoracic and abdominal regions of the aorta have different developmental origins. Vascular smooth muscles cells (VSMCs) in thoracic aorta have neural crest origin whereas VSMCs in abdominal aorta are derived from the mesoderm<sup>5</sup>. Due to this developmental heterogeneity, thoracic and abdominal regions of the aorta respond differently to growth factors<sup>6</sup>. In addition, composition of the aortic wall is different between thoracic and abdominal aortas. Although the total amount of elastin plus collagen is similar, the proportional amount of elastin and collagen are different between the thoracic and abdominal aorta as thoracic aorta contains more elastin than collagen fibers and opposite compositions are observed in the abdominal aorta<sup>7, 8</sup>. Moreover, abdominal and thoracic aortas show different expression patterns for over 100 genes in the normal and disease state<sup>9</sup>, as such different genes may play different role in thoracic versus the abdominal aorta. These structural and molecular heterogeneities lead to different histopathologies between abdominal and thoracic regions of the aorta.

## 1.5 The extracellular matrix (ECM)

## 1.5.1 ECM remodeling

The extracellular matrix (ECM) is a network structure which holds the cellular components together to provide structural integrity of the vessel wall. Collagen and elastin fibers are the predominant structural components of the aortic ECM. Collagen fibers, which comprise 20% of total protein in normal aorta, work as a blood reservoir to protect the aortic wall from rupturing, and elastin fibers provide elasticity which allow the aortic wall to recoil during cardiac relaxation<sup>10,</sup>

5

<sup>11</sup>. Collagen and elastin fibers are synthesized by medial SMCs and fibroblasts in the adventitia<sup>12</sup>. Excessive degradation or deposition of these structural proteins leads to impairment of mechanical strength and integrity of the aortic wall<sup>7</sup>. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) degrade these ECM proteins and their activities are tightly regulated by their physiological inhibitors, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMPs). The ECM constantly undergoes turnover and its integrity is maintained by homeostasis of MMPs and TIMPs levels. Overall imbalance in its turnover leads to adverse pathological remodeling of ECM.

## 1.5.2 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs)

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are members of zinc-dependent endopeptidases which degrade a wide range of extracellular components. By actively modulating in ECM remodeling and turnover, MMPs play an important role in regulating physiological and pathological processes including cell apoptosis, embryogenesis, tissue morphogenesis, would healing, bone development<sup>13-15</sup>. There are 26 MMPs discovered to date<sup>16, 17</sup>. MMPs have been traditionally classified according to their preferential substrates: collagenases (MMP1, MMP8, MMP13 and MT1-MMP), stromelysins (MMP3, MMP10, and MMP11), membrane-type MMPs (MT1-MMP, MT2-MMP, MT3-MMP, and MT4-MMP), gelatinases (MMP-2 and -9), elastase (MMP12), epilysin (MMP28), and matrilysin (MMP7 and MMP26)<sup>18-21</sup>. Although MMPs have substrate specificity, most of MMPs are not specific to a single substrate such that a number of MMPs degrade a wide range of ECM proteins.

MMPs generally contain five conserved domains: amino (N)-terminus signal peptide, pro-domain, catalytic domain, hinge region and carboxyl (C)-

terminus hemopexin domain (Figure 1.2). The signal peptide directs translocation of MMPs to the endoplasmic reticulum for secretion<sup>22</sup>. The pro-domain containing cysteine sequences forms a bond with a zinc ion located at the catalytic domain to maintain MMPs as a form of inactive zymogen<sup>23</sup>. The hinge region regulates autoproteolysis and collagenolytic activities of MMPs<sup>24</sup>. The hemopexin domain contributes to recognition and cleavage of substrates<sup>25</sup>. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) are physiological inhibitors of MMPs that bind to the catalytic domain to regulate activity of MMPs<sup>22, 26</sup>.

MMPs are regulated at three levels: transcription, activation and inhibition. MMPs are induced at transcriptional level by bioactive molecules (Angiotensin II or Endothelin-1), inflammatory cytokines (Tumor necrosis factors, or interleukin-1 $\beta$ ), growth factors (transforming growth factors), oxidative stress, or mechanical stimuli<sup>27-30</sup>. Catalytic domain of inactive zymogens is blocked by the pro-domain. Proteolytic degradation or reactive oxygen species expose the catalytic domain of MMPs by unfolding or cleaving the pro-domain<sup>31</sup>. Activated MMPs are inhibited by their predominant inhibitors TIMPs.



Figure 1.2 Structure of MMPs.

The MMPs generally contain five conserved domains: amino (N)-terminus signal peptide, pro-domain, catalytic domain, hinge region and carboxyl (C)-terminus hemopexin domain. Extracted from Ra & Parks <sup>32</sup>.

## 1.5.3 Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs)

TIMPs are a family of four endogenous MMP inhibitors with 37-51% homology<sup>33</sup> (Figures 1.3 and 1.4). TIMPs consist of two domains, amino (N) terminal and carboxyl (C) terminal domains and cysteine-rich proteins with three

disulfide bonds stabilize these domains<sup>34</sup>. TIMPs work as competitive and reversible inhibitors of activated MMPs by forming a non-covalent bond between N-terminus of the TIMPs and the catalytic domain of MMPs in a 1:1 stoichiometric ratio<sup>35, 36</sup>. Among four TIMPs, TIMP2 forms a trimolecular complex with proMMP2 and MT1-MMP<sup>37, 38</sup>. TIMP2 inhibits the activity of MMP2 at higher concentrations while is required for cell surface activation of proMMP2 at lower concentrations<sup>39</sup>. In addition to MMP inhibitory functions, TIMPs have other functions. TIMP2 has been shown to stimulates cell growth<sup>40</sup>. TIMP3 has been found to inhibit angiogenesis and to stimulate VSMCs apoptosis<sup>41, 42</sup>.



Figure 1.3 Molecular structure of TIMP1 and TIMP2.

TIMP1 (A) and TIMP2 (B) sequence. Arrow indicates N- and C-terminus junction. Adapted from Moore *et al.*  $^{43}$ .



Figure 1.4 Computational structure of TIMP3 and TIMP4.

TIMP3 (A) and TIMP4 (B) sequence. Arrow indicates N- and C-terminus junction Adapted from Moore *et al.*  $^{43}$ .

## 1.6 Types of vascular remodeling

Structure and function of arteries undergo vascular remodeling as an adaptive response to stress including exercise, hypertension, stenosis, kidney diseases or aneurysm<sup>44</sup>. Impaired integrity of the vascular ECM due to alterations in the homeostasis of MMPs and TIMPs leads to physiological and pathological vascular remodeling. The changes associated with a decrease or an increase in the circumference can be classified as inward or outward vascular remodeling, respectively (Figure 1.5). The change in wall mass can be classified as hypotrophic (decreased in wall mass which leads to lower wall to lumen ratio than normal), eutrophic (constant wall mass), or hypertrophic (increased in wall mass which leads to higher wall to lumen ratio than normal). Inward eutrophic or hypertrophic remodeling is associated with hypertension, and outward remodeling is often associated with aneurysm.



Figure 1.5 Types of vascular remodeling

Different types of pathological vascular remodeling showing changes in wall to lumen ratio. Adapted from Mulvany *et al*<sup>44</sup>.

#### 1.7 Aortic aneurysm

By convention, an enlargement of 50% or greater in aortic diameter compared to its baseline diameter is considered aneurysmal. Aortic aneurysm can affect any region of the aorta, including the aortic root, the ascending thoracic aorta, the aortic arch, the descending thoracic aorta, and the abdominal aorta. The most common form of aortic aneurysm is the infrarenal abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAAs), usually associated with atherosclerosis, while thoracic aortic aneurysm (TAAs) are also commonly encountered in clinical practice. Collectively, aortic aneurysm represents the 13<sup>th</sup> most common cause of death in the United States, and the prevalence of the disease is increasing<sup>1</sup>. Gender, race, age, smoking, hypertension, atherosclerosis, genetic disposition and family history are risk factors for aortic aneurysm. Generally, AAA is linked to modifiable risk factors including life style, age, gender and pre-existing health conditions, while TAA is more linked to genetic predisposition such as Marfan syndrome. As aortic aneurysm enlarges, the aorta can eventually rupture; since the aorta is the largest artery, delivering blood from the heart to the body, the mortality due to aortic rupture is extremely high. Thoracic aortas with aneurysm are also prone to acute aortic dissection, another potentially life-threatening event in which the intima and media are dissected off the adventitia, creating a false lumen and potentially pinching off branch vessels. Though AAAs and TAAs are common and potentially life threatening, to date there are no effective medical therapies to treat aneurysm or to prevent their growth. To monitor presence and progression of aortic aneurysm, imaging techniques such as ultrasonography, computed tomographic scanning, or magnetic resonance scanning are recommended. Vascular surgeries such as open or endovascular repair are available for patients with sufficiently large aortic aneurysm.

#### **1.8** Clinical studies on aortic aneurysm

## **1.8.1 Classification**

Each type of aortic aneurysm shows distinctive characteristics of histopathology, disease mechanisms, and clinical presentations. Commonly used classification for aortic aneurysm is based on the anatomical location. According to the anatomic classification, aortic aneurysm can be divided into AAA and TAA depending on its location relative to the diaphragm.

#### **1.8.2** Histopathology of aortic aneurysm

Aortic aneurysm is a degenerative disease which leads to progressive dilation of the aorta. Pathological vascular remodeling of aortic aneurysm, which mainly occurs in the medial layer of the aorta, includes disruption of elastin and collagen fibers, infiltration of inflammatory cells, and loss of SMCs<sup>45-48</sup>. In addition, deposition of collagen fiber correlates positively with aortic diameter in patients with AAA<sup>49</sup>. The association between wall thickness and aortic aneurysm is not clear. While wall thickness was decreased in aorta from patients with TAA, patients with AAA did not show thinning of the aortic wall<sup>49, 50</sup>.

#### **1.8.3 Abdominal aortic aneurysm**

AAA is divided into suprarenal, pararenal or infrarenal; of these, the most common form is the infrarenal form. An aorta with a diameter greater than 3 cm is considered aneurysmal in the abdominal segment, which is 1.5 times larger than the normal diameter for this segment. The average annual expansion rates are 1 to 4 mm for smaller aneurysmal aortas and 7 to 8mm for larger aneurysmal aortas<sup>51</sup>. Prevalence of AAA is 1.3% for men and 0% for women aged 45 to 54 years and 12.5% for men and 5.2% for women 75 to 94 years of age<sup>52</sup>. AAA are rare in Asian populations compared to white populations<sup>53</sup>. Aortic rupture is the main complication of AAA, though thromboembolic complications and dissection can occur.

Smoking shows a strong association to aortic aneurysm events<sup>54</sup>. Smoking is thought to promote the production of reactive oxygen species to activate MMPs, which have the capacity to disrupt aortic wall structure<sup>55-57</sup>. Prevalence and mortality increase with smoking due to increased rate of aneurysm expansion<sup>58, 59</sup>. Interestingly, after cessation of smoking, risk of prevalence of AAA decreased minimally<sup>60</sup>.

Hypertension is another risk factor for aortic aneurysm. More than 80% of patients with aortic aneurysm have hypertension<sup>61</sup>. However, direct association between aortic aneurysm and hypertension is not clear. AAA patients with 4 to 5.5 cm in aortic diameter showed significant association between risk of rupture and mean blood pressure<sup>62</sup>. However, in another study, hypertension did not show any association to the expansion rate of AAA<sup>59</sup>.

Atherosclerosis, or lipid deposition in the aortic wall, also correlates with aortic aneurysm. Progression of type 2 lesions to advanced lesions is faster and

15

greater in quantity in aortic tissues from patients with AAA compared to TAA<sup>63</sup>. In addition, prevalence of aortic aneurysm with atherosclerosis disease is higher in AAA than in TAA<sup>61</sup>. The lipoprotein level in serum, a risk factor for atherosclerosis, is generally elevated in patients with AAA<sup>64</sup>.

Genetic predisposition has been shown to play a role in AAA where 15 to 30% of patients with AAA had first-degree relatives suffering aneurysm<sup>65, 66</sup>. While genetic syndromes such as Marfan syndrome, Loeys-Dietz syndrome, and Ehlers-Danlos syndrome mostly exhibit abnormalities in thoracic region of the aorta, degenerative changes can occur in the abdominal aorta as well.

Inflammation is also associated with AAA, forming a specific sub-type of AAA called an inflammatory AAA. Abnormal accumulation of macrophages and cytokines in the aneurysmal aortic tissue leads to inflammation. Patients with inflammatory aneurysm showed larger aortic diameter compared to patients with non-inflammatory aneurysm<sup>67</sup>. Inflammatory aortic aneurysm was present in approximately 5% of patients with AAA<sup>68, 69</sup>. Staphylococcus and Salmonella are the common cause of infectious, or mycotic, aneurysm but the prevalence of this type of disease is rare.

#### **1.8.4 Thoracic aortic aneurysm**

TAA is divided into ascending, arch, or descending TAA. As in other segments of the aorta, an increase of greater than 50% in thoracic aortic diameter is considered aneurysmal. Prevalence of TAA is 10.4 cases per 100000 population. Aortic diameter increases with age and the difference between genders decreases with age<sup>70</sup>. The average rate of TAA expansion is about 0.1 to 0.42 cm/year<sup>71</sup>. Possible complications associated with TAA are aortic rupture and aortic dissection. Similar to AAA, smoking and hypertension show correlation with development and progression of TAA.

Bicuspid aortic valve (BAV), where the aortic valve has two leaflets as opposed to three leaflets in normal aortic valve, is the most common congenital abnormality of the aortic valve affecting about 1 in 100 of the population<sup>72, 73</sup>. Due to structural abnormalities of the ascending aorta, BAV is frequently associated with aortic aneurysm such that individuals with BAV are prone to developing aortic aneurysm and aortic dissection<sup>74, 75</sup>. The congenital BAV predisposes to majority of TAA development<sup>76, 77</sup>. Patients with BAV showed larger diameter of aortic root and ascending aorta<sup>78</sup>. In addition, TAA patients with BAV showed greater elastin degradation than patients with tricuspid aortic valve (TAV)<sup>79</sup>. Elevated MMP2 and MMP9 levels were observed in BAV patients with TAA<sup>80, 81</sup>.

Genetic predisposition plays a role where 10% of patients with TAA have a first-degree relatives with TAA<sup>82</sup>. About 20% of TAA are due to genetic syndromes<sup>1</sup>. Genetic syndromes with abnormal connective tissue are associated with TAA. Marfan syndrome is a heritable disorder of the connective tissue due to mutations in the Fibrillin-1 which is an essential protein for elastin assembly in the medial layer of the aorta. Abnormalities in the connective tissue lead to abnormal manifestations in cardiovascular, ocular and skeletal systems. Patients with Marfan syndrome are highly predisposed to TAA and aortic dissection where most patients

present dilation of the aortic root/ascending aorta or Type A dissection<sup>83</sup>. Loeys-Dietz syndrome is an autosomal dominant disorder with mutations in either the Transforming growth factor receptor type I or II genes where most patients exhibit aortic root aneurysm<sup>84</sup>. Ehlers-Danlos syndrome is a rare autosomal dominant disorder with defect in type III collagen which is encoded by the COL3A1 gene. Characteristic symptoms of this disorder are hyperelasticity of skin, and rupture of arteries or other organs. The most fatal complication is arterial rupture which attributes to aortic ruptures and dissections. Since Fibrilin-1 and collagen are crucial for assembly and production of ECM structural proteins within the aortic wall, patients with these genetic syndromes are prone to aortic rupture and dissection.

Inflammatory diseases are also associated with TAA. Takayasu arteritis is an idiopathic vasculitis of elastic arteries where aorta can develop either aneurysm or stenosis. Prevalence of aortic aneurysm in the abdominal region is higher than in the thoracic region where 23% of patients with Takayasu arteritis exhibit AAA<sup>85</sup>. This disease affects all ethnic groups with moderately higher prevalence in Asian population<sup>84</sup>. Unlike other cardiovascular disease, women are affected about 10 times more than men<sup>83, 86</sup>. Giant cell arteritis is an elastic vessel vasculitis involving the aorta and its secondary and tertiary branches. The main difference between this disease and Takayasu arteritis is the distribution of patients' age. While patients above the age of 50 years are mostly affected by giant cell arteritis, patient with age below 40 years old are affected by Takayasu arteritis<sup>87</sup>. Infectious etiology are rare but it can affect the entire thoracic aorta and lead to TAA. Saccular aneurysm is the most common type of infectious aneurysm. The clinical outcome is poor with 30% to 50% mortality. Although thoracic aortic atherosclerosis is less common than abdominal aortic atherosclerosis, atherosclerotic TAA showed association with prevalence of ischemic stroke<sup>88</sup>.

## **1.8.5** Clinical presentations and complications

Aortic aneurysm is usually asymptomatic until the size of aneurysm is noticeably large and it is close to rupturing. Depending on the anatomical location of aneurysm, symptoms vary. Following aortic expansion or rupture, symptoms might occur more frequently with severe extent.

A common symptom of AAA is pain especially at the back and abdomen. Fullness or pulsations in the abdomen may occur as well<sup>89</sup>. The most common complication of AAA is aortic rupture. Common symptoms of TAA include chest pain or upper back pain<sup>90</sup>. Dyspnea (shortness of breath) or dysphagia (difficulty in swallowing) can occur due to an increased pressure on the trachea. However, most symptoms are not specific to TAA. The most common complication of TAA is aortic dissection, though aortic rupture can still occur.

Since the aorta is the largest artery that delivers blood to the entire body, aortic rupture may lead to a life-threatening event following massive hemorrhaging. Paralysis can occur when the aneurysm is large enough to compress surrounding spinal cord or after aortic rupture. Less common complications are embolization,
fistulae or thrombosis. In addition, presence of aortic aneurysm increases prevalence of other cardiovascular diseases.

## **1.8.6 Treatments**

Treatment approaches for aortic aneurysm vary depending on the subtype of aneurysm. The ultimate goal of the treatment is to slow down the progression of the aortic expansion and aortic rupture. Available treatment options for aortic aneurysm are surgical intervention (open and endovascular aortic aneurysm repairs), risk factor reduction (smoking, hypertension, or hyperlipidemia), and therapeutic interventions. In this review, therapeutic interventions will be discussed in detail.

There are clinical trials on the different therapeutic interventions for AAA. One of the approaches is to control risk factors such as hypertension or hyperlipidemia. Propranolol is used as a non-selective  $\beta$  adrenergic blocker. Patients with AAA showed no significant differences in the annual growth rate and mortality rate between placebo and propranolol groups<sup>91</sup>. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors are used to block the conversion of Angiotensin I to Angiotensin II. In a small study, aneurysm growth was fastened in patients taking ACE inhibitors<sup>92</sup>. However, in a large study, patients who took ACE inhibitors prior to admission showed significantly less prevalence of aortic rupture<sup>93</sup>. In this study, researchers found out that other anti-hypertensive agents including  $\beta$  blockers, angiotensin II receptor blocker (ARB), thiazide diuretics, calcium channel blocker, and  $\alpha$  blocker did not show any significant prevention against aortic rupture.

20

However, in another study, while ACE inhibitors lower the abdominal aortic rupture, ARB did not show any protection against aortic rupture compared to placebo group<sup>93</sup>. Statin is used to lower cholesterol level in patients with AAA. However, after 5 years of follow-up, no association was found between statin and expansion rate of AAA<sup>94</sup>. Another approach is to inhibit MMPs which have been shown to be altered in patients with aortic aneurysm. Doxycycline is an antibiotic which can inhibit broad range of MMPs. Doxycycline was given in patients with AAA (3.0 to 5.5 cm in diameter) for 6 months but there were no significant changes in the aortic diameter and overall expansion rate between treatment and placebo groups<sup>95</sup>. However, in another study, taking doxycycline for 3 months significantly reduced expansion rate of AAA (3.0 cm in diameter) over the 18 months surveillance<sup>96</sup>. Roxithromycin is a semi-synthetic macrolide antibiotic and patients with small AAA showed reduced annual expansion rate following the treatment<sup>97</sup>.

There are limited clinical trials on the therapeutic interventions for TAA. Patients with Marfan syndrome showed significantly lower rate of aortic dilation as well as better survival rate following propranolol treatment<sup>98</sup>. 24 weeks of perindopril, an ACE inhibitor, treatment reduced aortic stiffness and aortic root diameter in patients with Marfan syndrome<sup>99</sup>. Losartan, an ARB, showed slower rate of progression in thoracic aorta in patients with Marfan syndrome<sup>100</sup>. In another study, statin treatment did not show improvement in the long-term mortality in patients with TAA<sup>101</sup>. However, regardless of various clinical trials on medical therapy, there is insufficient evidence to prove effectiveness of therapeutic interventions on the expansion of aortic aneurysm.

#### **1.9 Role of the ECM in aortic aneurysm**

Development of aortic aneurysm is a complicated process which involves pathological changes in both cellular and extracellular levels. Common pathological changes in the aneurysmal aortic wall are destruction of elastin and collagen fibers, and loss of SMCs<sup>90, 102, 103</sup>. MMPs and TIMPs play a significant role in the development of aortic aneurysm such that alteration in MMPs and TIMPs levels disrupts collagen and/or elastin structures in aortic wall and leads aorta prone to aneurysm. In addition, polymorphism of the genes associated with MMPs and TIMPs have been constantly reported in patients with aortic aneurysm<sup>104</sup>.

## **1.9.1** Alterations in expression of MMPs and TIMPs in aortic aneurysm

Expression patterns of MMPs and TIMPs vary depending on the anatomical location of aortic aneurysm (abdominal vs. thoracic region)<sup>105</sup>. Abdominal aortic wall tissue from patients with aneurysm showed increased MMP2 and MMP9 complementary DNA expression compared to normal aortic tissue<sup>106</sup>. In another study, mRNA level of MMP2 was significantly increased in the inferior mesenteric arteries, which is in close proximity to the abdominal aorta, from patients with AAA compared to control<sup>107</sup>.

Expression patterns of MMPs and TIMPs were examined in patients with TAA with BAV or TAV. Compared to control, MMP2 levels were significantly elevated only in patients with BAV whereas TIMP2 level was significantly reduced in patients with TAV<sup>79</sup>. In this paper, the relationship between MMPs and TIMPs expression levels and aortic diameter was examined where the alteration of MMPs

and TIMPs were different between patients with BAV and TAV. While patients with BAV showed alterations in MMP2, MT1-MMP and TIMP1 levels, patients with TAV showed alterations in MMP3, MMP7, MMP13 and TIMP2 levels. Taken together, these data imply that expression of MMPs and TIMPs are not only dependent on the anatomical location but also specific pathology of the disease.

## **1.9.2 Role of MMP2 in aortic aneurysm**

Among 26 MMPs that have been discovered, MMP2, known as a gelatinase, works as a collagenase and an elastase<sup>108</sup>, has been consistently reported to be linked to TAA and AAA<sup>109-112</sup>. In addition, abdominal and thoracic aortas show different expression patterns of MMP2 gene in the normal and disease state<sup>9</sup>. mRNA levels and activity of MMP2 were lower in patients with atherosclerotic and non-atherosclerotic TAA than control<sup>113</sup>. Elevated MMP2 levels were observed in aortic biopsies collected from small AAA<sup>110</sup>. Smooth muscle cells taken from patients with AAA showed increased MMP2 production in culture medium<sup>111</sup>. Isolated aortic fibroblast from CaCl<sub>2</sub>-exposed TAA showed elevated expression of MMP2<sup>112</sup>. In addition, MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice did not develop AAA following adventitial CaCl<sub>2</sub> exposure<sup>114</sup>. However, the role of MMP2 in TAA has not been yet explored. The abundance and expression of MMP2 vary depending on not only the types but also the size of aortic aneurysm as such the direct role of MMPs including MMP2 is still not clear<sup>115-117</sup>.

## **1.9.3** Role of MMP2 in TGFβ signaling pathway

One of the upstream regulators of ECM synthesis is the Transforming Growth Factor-beta (TGF $\beta$ ) signaling pathway. TGF $\beta$  is a soluble antiinflammatory cytokine that is synthesized by many cell types in its latent form. Latent TGF $\beta$  and latency-associated peptide (LAP) form a non-covalent complex called a small latent complex (SLC). SLC forms a disulphide bond with a latent TGFβ binding protein (LTBP) to form a large latent complex (LLC). This complex is sequestered to the ECM components including Fibrilin-1. In normal physiological state, Fibrilin-1 forms a cross-linkage with the LLC to stabilize its microfibriliar structure and sequesters TGF $\beta$ . Latent TGF $\beta$  can be activated by heat<sup>118</sup>, acid<sup>119</sup>, reactive oxygen species<sup>120</sup>, and proteases<sup>121-124</sup>. MMP2, MMP9 and MT1-MMP have been shown to cleave the bond between LAP and LTBP to release TGF $\beta^{121-123}$ . The released (active) TGF $\beta$  binds to type II TGF $\beta$  receptor (TGF $\beta$  R2) which then recruits and phosphorylates type I TGF<sup>β</sup> receptor (TGF<sup>β</sup> R1). Subsequently, the activated TGF $\beta$  R1 phosphorylates and activates Smad2/3. Following phosphorylation, Smad2/3 interacts with Smad4 and then this complex translocates to the nucleus where regulation of matrix-associated protein expression which includes elastin, collagen and MMPs occurs (Figure 1. 6)<sup>125-127</sup>.



Figure 1.6 TGFβ-Smad signaling pathway.

The TGF $\beta$  binds to its receptor and activates Smad signaling pathway which regulates matrix-associated protein expression. Modified from Lindsay & Dietz<sup>128</sup>.

TGF $\beta$  participates in various cellular responses such as proliferation<sup>129</sup>, angiogenesis via regulating proliferation and migration of endothelial cells<sup>130, 131</sup>, would repair, apoptosis<sup>132, 133</sup> and inflammation<sup>134</sup>. In addition, TGF $\beta$  plays a crucial role in vascular remodeling via regulating matrix deposition and degradation. TGF $\beta$ 1<sup>-/-</sup> mice die about 20 days after birth due to inflammatory responses<sup>135</sup>. Mutations in TGF $\beta$  receptor genes have been observed in patients with AAA<sup>136</sup>. TGF $\beta$  expression is upregulated in abdominal aneurysmal aortic wall<sup>137</sup>.

On the other hand, complementary DNA level of TGFB is significantly decreased in patients with AAA compared to patients with TAA or normal aorta<sup>105</sup>. Patients with Marfan syndrome (mutation in Fibrilin-1) showed increased circulating TGFβ1 and TGFβ receptor 2 levels compared to control group<sup>115, 138</sup>. In TAA samples taken from Marfan syndrome patients, a decrease in MMP2 activity was found compared to normal aortic samples<sup>109</sup>. Patients with Loeys-Dietz syndrome (mutation in the gene coding for TGF $\beta$  receptor 1 or receptor 2) showed increased activity of TGFB<sup>139, 140</sup>. Interestingly, patients with heterozygous mutations of TGF $\beta$  receptor 1 or 2 showed enhanced TGF $\beta$  signaling in the aortic wall<sup>139</sup>. Alterations in TGF $\beta$  signaling pathway is examined in patients with AAA. Since TGF<sup>β</sup> signaling pathway has been shown to stimulate collagen and elastin production, these alterations in TGF $\beta$  signaling molecules might be the mechanism underlying reduction in elastin and collagen in aneurysmal aortic wall<sup>126, 141</sup>. Histological analyses showed decreased elastin content and fragmented elastin fiber in aortic tissue from patients with Marfan syndrome<sup>142</sup>. Moreover, alteration of collagen architecture has been observed in patients with AAA and TAA associated with Marfan syndrome<sup>143</sup>.

In addition, VSMCs from rat thoracic aorta show enhanced Smad activation through AT1 receptor following Ang II treatment<sup>144</sup>. In another study, Ang IIinduced activation of latent TGFβ1<sup>145</sup> and phosphorylation of Smad2 and Smad3<sup>146,</sup> <sup>147</sup> has been reported in kidney and cardiac fibroblast<sup>148</sup>. In cardiac fibroblast, losartan (AT1 blocker) attenuates activation of TGFβ1<sup>149</sup>.

## 1.10 The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RASS) that regulates blood pressure, fluid and electrolyte homeostasis in body. Alterations in the RASS has been reported to promote physiological and pathological changes in the cardiovascular diseases<sup>150</sup>. Angiotensin, which is released from the liver, is cleaved by renin, which is a proteolytic enzyme secreted from the granulated cells of the juxtaglomerular cells, and forms the decapeptide Angiotensin I (Ang I) (Figure 1.7)<sup>151-153</sup>. Subsequently, angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) converts Ang I to Ang II. Ang I and Ang II can be cleaved by ACE2 to generate Ang-(1-7). ACE2 converts Ang I to Ang-(1-9) which then subsequently degraded to Ang-(1-7) by ACE. ACE2 also coverts Ang II to Ang-(1-7)<sup>154, 155</sup>. Ang II predominantly binds to angiotensin II receptor, type-1 (AT1) and promotes vasoconstriction, cell growth and oxidative stress<sup>156-159</sup>. Ang II also binds to angiotensin II receptor, type-2 (AT2) and promotes vasodilation, nitric oxide (NO) release, and apoptosis<sup>158-161</sup>. Ang-(1-7) binds to Mas, G protein-coupled receptor to mediate vasodilation, antiproliferation and anti-hypertrophy<sup>162-164</sup>.



Figure 1.7 The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

ACE : angiotensin converting enzyme, AT 1 receptor : angiotensin II receptor type 1, AT 2 receptor : angiotensin II receptor type 2. Adapted from Lemarie & Schiffrin<sup>165</sup>.

Ang II, primary agonist of the RAAS, affects function of many organs including heart, kidneys, and vasculature. Ang II induces nitric oxide (NO) synthesis<sup>166</sup>, inflammation<sup>167, 168</sup>, hypertrophy<sup>169, 170</sup>, and ECM remodeling<sup>171, 172</sup> in VSMCs, endothelial cells, and cardiomyocytes. Ang II induced elevations in proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ )<sup>173</sup> and oxidative stress in turn upregulate expression of MMP2<sup>174, 175</sup>. Co-localization of Ang II and MMP2 atherosclerotic lesions has been reported<sup>176</sup>. Upregulation of Ang II has been shown to promote aneurysm formation in the aorta<sup>177-179</sup>.

#### **1.11** Animal studies on aortic aneurysm

#### **1.11.1 Experimental models to induced aortic aneurysm**

Several experimental models have been used to study aortic aneurysm in rodents. Intraluminal elastase perfusion or adventitial calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) exposure models have been used to induce aortic aneurysm<sup>180-182</sup>. Since disruption of elastin structure is commonly observed in the aorta from patients with aortic aneurysm, elastase is used to mimic the pathology of the disease. Elastase perfusion model is mostly used to study AAA. Abdominal aorta is clamped near the renal vein and the segment of isolated aorta is perfused with elastase through an aortotomy at the bifurcation. Elastase is perfused for 5 minutes from the lumen to the adventitia wall of the aorta<sup>180, 183</sup>. Since the elastase is extracted from porcine pancreas, it is hard to conclude that development of aortic aneurysm is purely due to elastin disruption by elastase or inflammatory response against porcine elastase. In addition, elastase perfusion model is invasive and it can only applied to the specific region of the aorta to induce internal injury. Thus, this is not the best experimental model to study underlying mechanism on the formation of aortic aneurysm.

CaCl<sub>2</sub> exposure model is widely used to study AAA and TAA. CaCl<sub>2</sub> is applied for 15 minutes on the outer surface of the abdominal aorta between renal arteries and the bifurcation of the iliac arteries for AAA or distal half of descending thoracic aorta for TAA<sup>181, 182</sup>. CaCl<sub>2</sub> leads to structural degradation of medial layer by activating MMPs which have binding site for calcium<sup>184, 185</sup>. In addition to dilation of the lumen of the aorta, aortic wall becomes more susceptible to aneurysm development. Similar to elastase infusion model, this model is limited to examine systematic effect of CaCl<sub>2</sub> in the development of aortic aneurysm.

Another experimental model of aortic aneurysm is systemic infusion of Ang II via an osmotic pump allowing the release of Ang II into the entire body at a constant rate<sup>186</sup>. This allows examination of the systematic effect of Ang II in the development of aortic aneurysm in both abdominal and thoracic regions at the same time. Since Ang II is a physiological hormone, which is elevated in patients with cardiovascular disease<sup>187,188</sup>, this experimental model is physiologically relevant. Therefore, Ang II infusion is the most promising study model to induce aortic aneurysm in animal model to examine underlying mechanisms of the development of aortic aneurysm.

## 1.11.2 Genetically engineered mice

In order to understand the underlying mechanisms of aortic aneurysm, genetically engineered mice have been used. Whole body knockout mice that show alterations in ECM components are widely used to study aortic aneurysm. TIMP1<sup>-/-</sup> mice exhibited increased TAA size compared to wild-type following CaCl<sub>2</sub> infusion<sup>189</sup>. In addition, TIMP3<sup>-/-</sup> mice developed AAA following Ang II infusion for 4 weeks and by deleting both TIMP3 and MMP2, mice with Ang II developed more severe AAA than TIMP3<sup>-/-</sup> mice<sup>177</sup>. MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> and MMP9<sup>-/-</sup> mice did not show dilation of the abdominal aorta following CaCl<sub>2</sub> infusion<sup>114</sup>. However, there is no reports on TAA formation in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. In a different study, MMP9<sup>-/-</sup> mice were protected against TAA following CaCl<sub>2</sub> infusion<sup>181</sup>.

30

As prominent ECM components in aortic wall, mice with defects in collagen or elastin structures are used to study aortic aneurysm. Lysyl oxidase (Lox) maintains ECM integrity by initiating covalent cross-linking of collagen and elastin<sup>190</sup>. Most of Lox<sup>-/-</sup> mice died at the end of gestation or as neonates but live born pups showed large aortic aneurysm<sup>191</sup>. Deletion of Fibrilin-1, which is essential for elastin assembly, has been used as an animal model of aortic aneurysm associated with Marfan syndrome<sup>192, 193</sup>.

Hyperlipidemic mice are also used to study atherosclerotic aortic aneurysm. Following high fat diet, Apolipoprotein<sup>-/-</sup> (ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>) mice developed AAA with atherosclerotic lesions<sup>194-196</sup>. ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>/;MMP3<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed less frequent TAA but larger atherosclerotic lesions in the abdominal aorta was observed compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>/;MMP3<sup>+/+</sup> mice following a high fat diet for 6 months<sup>195</sup>. In addition, ApoE<sup>-</sup> <sup>/-</sup>/;TIMP1<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed less atherosclerotic lesions throughout the aorta but more frequent AAA and TAA compared to ApoE<sup>-/-</sup>/;TIMP1<sup>+/+</sup> mice<sup>194</sup>.

## 1.12 Hypothesis and objective

#### 1.12.1 Hypothesis

Since MMP2 can degrade a number of ECM proteins, such as collagen and elastin fibers, MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice will be protected against excess proteolysis and aortic aneurysm following Ang II infusion, due to the suppressed ECM-degrading function of MMP2.

## 1.12.2 Objective

The main objective of this study was to examine the role of MMP2 in vascular remodeling and development of aortic aneurysm. This would provide crucial information on the underlying mechanism and therapeutic interventions for aortic aneurysm.

# **CHAPTER 2**

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 2.1 Animal Care

WT and MMP2-deficient (MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>)<sup>197</sup> mice in C57BL/6 background (The Jackson Laboratory; Bar Harbor, MN, USA) were housed in our animal facility at University of Alberta. WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were bred to generate WT, heterozygous, and homozygous knockout age-matched littermates. All animal experiments were performed in accordance with Canadian Council on Animal Care Guidelines and regulations of Animal Policy and Welfare committee at University of Alberta.

## 2.2 Genotyping

#### 2.2.1 Isolation of DNA from toe

Small piece of toe was cut from mice at 2 weeks of age. Toe was placed in eppendorf tube with 175 µL of toe digestion buffer (Table 2.1) and 0.12mg of Proteinase K and incubate overnight at 56 °C for digestion. Samples were chilled on ice for 5 minutes. 67.5 µL of saturated 5 M NaCl was added and samples were mixed by inversion. Samples were centrifuged at 14,500 × *g* for 15 minutes at 4 °C. Supernatant was transferred to eppendorf tube. 150 µL of isopropanol was added. Tubes were gently inverted to precipitate DNA. Samples were centrifuged at 14,000 × *g* for 15 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was removed and discarded. 0.25 mL of cold 70% ethanol was added to wash pellet and samples were pipetted until the pellet was completely dislodged. Samples were centrifuged at 14,000 × *g* for 15 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was removed and discarded. 20 µL of TE buffer was added to re-suspend pellet. 2 µL of DNA was diluted into 200 µL of dH<sub>2</sub>O for quantification.

33

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Tris-HCl	121.14	N/A	50 mM
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	58.44	N/A	100 mM
SDS	288.38	N/A	1%
EDTA	372.24	N/A	100mM
Proteinase K	N/A	5mg/mL	0.4mg/mL

Table 2.1 Toe digestion buffer

## 2.2.2 MMP2 Multiplex Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Primer sequences are shown in Table 2.2<sup>197, 198</sup>. Reaction mix was prepared and ran for PCR reaction (Table 2.3 and 2.4). Upon completion of PCR reaction,  $6 \times$  DNA loading dye (Thermo Scientific; Willmington, DE, USA.) was added to samples. Samples were loaded into 1.5% agarose in TAE buffer containing SYBR® Safe DNA Gel Stain (Invitrogen; Burlington, ON, Canada.) and ran for 30 minutes at 80V. Gel was scanned using ImageQuant LAS 4000 (GE ImageQuant LAS 4000; GE).

Table 2.2 Primer sequences for MMP2 genotyping

Primer sequences 5	5' to 3'
MMP2 WT	CAG GGA GCC AGA ACA GAA GTG GGA
MMP2 Anchor	CCA GGT CGT GAG AAG GCA CAG A
MMP2 NeoA	TGG CGG CGA ATG GGC TGA

Table 2.3 Reaction mix for MMP2 genotyping

ddH2O	17.5 μL
10x PCR Buffer	2.5 μL
MgCl <sub>2</sub> (50mM)	1 μL
dNTP (10μM)	0.5 μL
MMP2 WT (10pmol/µL)	0.75 μL
MMP2 Anc (10pmol/µL)	0.75 μL
MMP2 NeoA (10pmol/µL)	0.75 μL
Taq (5U/μL)	0.25 μL
DNA	1 μL

Table 2.4 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) program for MMP2 genotyping

	PCR Program	
1	94 °C	2 min
2	94 °C	1 min
3	67 °C	1 min
4	72 °C	1 min
5	Repeat step 2-4	4 x40
6	72 °C	10 min
7	4 °C	10 min

## 2.3 Experimental animal disease model

Eight-week old male WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were anesthetized with 1% isoflurane using 100% oxygen. A 1 cm incision was made on dorsal region and Alzet micro-osmotic pumps (Model 1002, Durect Co.) were implanted subcutaneously to deliver 1.5 mg/kg/day of Angiotensin II (Ang II, Sigma-Aldrich; Oakville, ON, Canada) <sup>199-201</sup>, 30mg/kg/day of Phenylephrine (PE, Sigma-Aldrich; Oakville, ON, Canada) or saline (control). The incision was closed using a 6-0 silk suture. The pumps were replaced at day 14 to allow for continuous infusion for 28 days.

## **2.4 Tissue Collection**

#### **2.4.1 Mortality and autopsy**

WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were monitored regularly and autopsy was performed on each mouse found dead throughout the course of the experiment. Mortality due to aortic rupture was confirmed by the presence of blood clot in the chest cavity close to the heart. The aorta was isolated and confirmed directly under a stereomicroscope.

## 2.4.2 Tissue collection from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice

At 2 weeks or 4 weeks after Ang II infusion, mice were anesthetized with 0.2 mL of Ketamine-Xylazine combination (2 mL of 100 mg/mL Ketamine stock, 1mL of 20 mg/mL Xylazine stock, and 7mL of Normal saline 0.9% (Hospira Inc. Montreal. QC. Canada). Prior to any tissue collection, status of anesthesia was checked by pinching toes to confirm that the animal was in surgical plane. The heart, the entire aorta from the right beneath of the atria to the suprarenal arteries, mesenteric arteries, and carotid arteries were harvested. Samples were flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C for further molecular analyses. Tibial length was measured as a measure of growth. Body weight, heart weight and kidney weight were measured and normalized to tibial length to examine hypertrophy in response to Ang II treatments.

#### 2.5 In vivo aortic structure and function assessment

#### 2.5.1 Tail Cuff Blood Pressure Measurement

Blood pressure was recorded using the non-invasive tail-cuff system (iiTC Life Sciences; Woodland Hills, CA). Mice were acclimatized be being placed in the restrainer tube 3 days prior to the actual blood pressure measurement (10 minutes/day). Baseline blood pressure was measured over one week before implantation of osmotic pumps (three measurements). Temperature inside chamber was maintained at 30 °C. During the first 2 weeks of Ang II infusion, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure and heart rate were measured. In order to minimize any variations due to circadian rhythm, measurement was done at the same time of the day. Each measurement was done triplicates.

### 2.5.2 Ultrasound Imaging of aorta

*In vivo* systolic and diastolic aortic diameters of thoracic, proximal and abdominal regions were measured non-invasively by ultrasound recording (Vevo770 high-resolution in vivo micro-imaging system; VisualSonics, Toronto, Canada) as previously described<sup>202, 203</sup>. Mice were anaesthetized 1% isoflurane in 100% oxygen. Hair was removed using hair removal cream. Ultrasound gel was applied on the chest and abdomen of the mouse. The aortic diameters were measured by M-mode at three different regions: between Brachiocephalic artery and left common carotid artery for thoracic diameter, between aortic arch and the diaphragm for proximal diameter, and suprarenal region for abdominal diameter. The maximum aortic lumen diameter (aortic systolic diameter corresponding to cardiac systole) and the minimum aortic lumen diameter (aortic diastolic diameter

corresponding to cardiac diastole) were measured. Aortic expansion index (%) was calculated using the following equation:

Aortic expansion index (%) =  $\frac{\text{systolic aortic diameter-diastolic aortic diameter}}{\text{systolic aortic diameter}} \times 100$ 

#### 2.6 Histological analysis

For histological analysis, 1mL formalin was directly injected from the left atrium and aorta was slowly perfuse-fixed with formalin (Buffered, 10%, phosphate buffer) for 30 minutes at 80mmHg. Aorta was carefully harvested and cleaned for any adipose tissue and fixed in formalin for 48 hours. Perfuse-fixed aortas were paraffin-embedded for Gomori Trichrome (Alberta Diabetes Institute Histology Core; University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada) and Verhoeff-Van Gieson (VVG) staining (University of Alberta Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology; Edmonton, AB, Canada).

#### 2.6.1 Gomori Trichrome (GT) stain

Paraffin-embedded aortas were cross-sectioned (5µm in thickness) for Gomori trichrome staining (Alberta Diabetes Institute Histology Core; University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada). Slides were deparaffinised and hydrated with distilled water. Slides were placed in 60 °C Bouin's solution (Sigma-Aldrich; Oakville, ON, Canada) for 30 minutes and cool it at room temperature for another 30 minutes. Slides were washed with water for 5 minutes and stained with trichrome stain (1.2 g of chromotrope 2R, 0.6 g of light green SF, 1.6 g of dodecatungstophospho -ric acid, and 20 mL of distil water) for 20 minutes. Slides were placed in 0.5% glacial acetic acid for 2 minutes and dehydrated through 100% ethanol.

#### 2.6.2 Verhoeff-Van Gieson (VVG) stain

Slides were deparaffinised and hydrated with water. Slides were placed in Verhoeff's solution (20 mL of 5% alcoholic hematoxylin, 8mL of 10% ferric chloride and 8mL of Weigert's iodine solution (2% potassium iodide and 1% iodine in distill water)) for 1 hour. Slides were rinsed with water and incubated with 2% ferric chloride for 2 minutes. Slides were washed with water and treated with 5% sodium thiosulphate for 1 minute. Slides were washed in water for 5 minutes and counterstained in Van Geison's solution (15 mL of 1% aqueous acid fuschin, 50 mL saturated aqueous picric acid and 50mL of distill water) for 3 minutes. Slides were dehydrated in 95% and 100% alcohol and cleared in xylene for 3 minutes each.

## 2.7 RNA expression analysis

#### 2.7.1 RNA extraction

Prior to any molecular work, blood in the vessels were flushed away. Any adipose tissue or nerves were removed as well. For aorta, side branches including brachiocephalic artery, left and right common carotid arteries were removed. Samples were homogenized by using tissue crusher. 500  $\mu$ l of ice-cold Trizol (Invitrogen; Burlington, ON, Canada) was added to each tube. Tubes were incubated in ice for 5 minutes and centrifuged at 12,000  $\times g$  for 10 minutes at 4 °C. Supernatant was transferred to new tube and 500  $\mu$ l of ice-cold Trizol was added to

each tube and the mixture was pipetted up and down. Tubes were incubated in ice for 5 minutes and centrifuged at 12,000  $\times g$  for 10 minutes at 4 °C. Supernatant was transferred to the tube with which contains supernatant from previous step and 200 µl of chloroform was added. Tubes vigorously were shook for 15 seconds and incubated in ice for 5 minutes. Tubes were centrifuged at  $12,000 \times g$  for 15 minutes at 4 °C and the upper colorless phase was transferred to new tube. 500µl of isopropanol was added to each tube and tubes were incubated at -20  $^{\circ}$ C for 7 days. After incubation, tubes were centrifuged at 12,000  $\times g$  for 10minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was removed and discarded. 1mL of 75% ethanol was added to each tube and the mixture was pipetted until the pellet was completely dislodged. Tubes were centrifuged at 7,500  $\times$  g for 5 minutes at 4  $\,^{\circ}$ C and the supernatant was removed and discarded. The pellet was dried for 5 minutes to remove any ethanol remnant. 12  $\mu$ l of RNA –free water was added to dissolve RNA. 1  $\mu$ l of RNA was loaded to NanoDrop 1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific; Willmington, DE, USA) to measure the concentration. Samples were stored at -80  $^{\circ}$ C.

#### 2.7.2 Taqman RT-PCR

In order to generate complementary DNA (cDNA), RNA was reverse transcribed. PCR water was added to 1  $\mu$ g of RNA to make final volume of 9  $\mu$ l. 2  $\mu$ l of random hexamers was added. Samples were incubated at 70 °C for 10 minutes and centrifuged briefly at 10,000 × *g* at 4 °C. 9  $\mu$ l of mixture (4  $\mu$ l of 5× buffer, 2  $\mu$ l of DTT from 0.1M stock, 1  $\mu$ l dNTP from 25 mM stock, 1  $\mu$ l SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase(Invitrogen; Burlington, ON, Canada), 1  $\mu$ l RNase inhibitor from 40 U/ $\mu$ l stock(Invitrogen; Burlington, ON, Canada). Tubes were incubated at 40 °C for 1 hour. 396 µl of PCR water was added to 4 µl of RT products. 10µl of 6 serial dilutions of standard (0.625, 1.25, 2.5, 5, 10 and 20µg) were added to each well of 384-well white bottom plates. 4.17µl of Mastermix (Applied Biosystems; Carlsbad, CA, USA), 0.35µl of forward primer, 0.35µL of reverse primer, 0.35µl of probe, 2.78µl of H2O, and 5µl of sample cDNA were added to each well. All samples were run in triplicates. Optical adhesive film was used to cover the plate. Real-time PCR reaction was performed for 2 hours using the LightCycler® 480 Real-Time PCR System. Readings were normalized by control HPRT (hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase-1). The primers and probes of genes used in our study are listed in Table 2.5.

Gene	Primer/Probe	Sequence
HPRT	Forward:	5'-AGC TTG CTG GTG AAA AGG AC-3'
	Reverse:	5'-CAA CTT GCG CTC ATC TTA GG-3'
	Probe:	5'-FAM-CAA CAA AGT CTG GCC TGT ATC
		CAA C-TAM RA-3'
TIMP1	Forward:	5'-CAT GGA AAG CCT CTG TGG ATA TG-3'
	Reverse:	5'-AAG CTG CAG GCA CTG ATG TG-3'
	Probe:	5'-FAM-CTC ATC ACG GGC CGC CTA AGG
		AAC-TAM RA-3'

Table 2.5 Taqmar	primers and	l probe sequences.
------------------	-------------	--------------------

Forward:	5'-CCA GAA GAA GAG CCT GAA CCA-3'
Reverse:	5'-GTC CAT CCA GAG GCA CTC ATC-3'
Probe:	5'-FAM-ACT CGCT GTC CCA TGA TCC CTT
	GC-TAM RA-3'
Forward:	5'-GGC CTC AAT TAC CGC TAC CA-3'
Reverse:	5'-CTG ATA GCC AGG GTA CCC AAA A-3'
Probe:	5'-FAM-TGC TAC TAC TTG CCT TGT TTT
	GTG ACC TCC A-TAM RA-3'
Forward:	5'-TGC AGA GGG AGA GCC TGA A-3'
Reverse:	5'-GGT ACA TGG CAC TGC ATA GCA-3'
Probe:	5'-FAM-CCA CCA GAA CTG TGG CTG CCA
	AAT C-TAMRA-3'
Forward:	5'-AAC TAC GAT GAT GAC CGG AAG TG-3'
Reverse:	5'-TGG CAT GGC CGA ACT CA-3'
Probe:	5'-FAM-TCT GTC CTG ACC AAG GAT ATA
	GCC TAT TCC TCG-TAM RA-3'
Forward:	5'-CGA ACT TCG ACA CTG ACA AGA AGT
	-3'
	Reverse: Probe: Forward: Reverse: Probe: Forward: Reverse: Probe: Forward: Reverse: Probe: Probe:

	Reverse:	5'- GCA CGC TGG AAT GAT CTA AGC-3'
	Probe:	5'-FAM-TCT GTC CAG ACC AAG GGT ACA
		GCC TGT TC-TAM RA-3'
IL-1β	Forward:	5'-AAC CTG CTG GTG TGT GAC GTT C-3'
	Reverse:	5'-CAG CAC GAG GCT TTT TTG TTG T-3'
	Probe:	5'FAM-TAG ACA GCT GCA CTA CAG GCT
		CCG AGA TG-TAMRA-3'
IL-6	Forward:	5'-ACA ACC ACG GCC TTC CCT ACT T-3'
	Reverse:	5'-CAC GAT TTC CCA GAG AAC ATG TG-3'
	Probe:	5'FAM TTC ACA GAG GAT ACC ACT CCC
		AAC AGA CCT-TAMRA-3'
pro-	Forward:	5'-CTTCACCTACAGCACCCTTGTG-3'
collagen I-	Reverse:	5'-TGACTGTCTTGCCCCAAGTTC-3'
α1	Probe:	5'-FAM-CTGCACGAGTCACACC-TAMRA-3'
	Forward:	5'- GTT GGC TCA GCC AGA TGC A-3'
	Reverse:	5'-AG CCT ACT CAT TGG GAT CAT CTT G- 3'
MCP-1	Probe:	
		5'-FAM-
		TTAACGCCCCACTCACCTGCTGCTACT- TAMRA-3'
Elastin		Applied Biosystems Assay ID Mm00514670_m1

	(premixed primers/probe)
TGF-β	Applied Biosystems Assay ID Mm01178819_m1
	(premixed primers/probe)

TGF- $\beta$ : transforming growth factor-beta; TNF- $\alpha$ : tumor necrosis factor-alpha; MCP-1: monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; IL-1 $\beta$ : interleukin-1 beta; IL-6: interleukin-6;

## 2.8 Protein analysis

## 2.8.1 Protein extraction

Samples were homogenized by using tissue crusher. Liquid nitrogen was constantly applied to prevent samples from thawing. Eppendorf containing homogenized sample was centrifuged for 5 seconds. 80 µl of RIPA without EDTA extraction buffer (Table2.6) containing protease inhibitor (Cocktail Set III; Calbiochem; San Diego, CA, USA), phosphatase inhibitors (Cocktail Set II; Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada, and Cocktails Set IV; Calbiochem; San Diego, CA, USA) was added to each tube. For elastase activity assay, Cytobuster Protein Extraction Buffer (Novagen; Madison, WI, USA) was used to extract protein. Tubes were vortexed for 1 minute and kept in the ice for 5 minutes. This step was repeated three times. Samples were centrifuged at 14,000  $\times g$  for 15 minutes at 4 °C. Supernatant was transferred to a new tube and samples were dilute in 1 to 5 ratios for quantification.

Chemical name	M.W.	Conc.stock	Conc.final
	(g/mol)		
Tris-HCl	121.14	N/A	50 mM
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	58.44	N/A	150 mM
Triton X-100 (detergent)	624.00	N/A	1%
SDS (detergent)	288.38	N/A	0.1%
NP40 (detergent)	N/A	N/A	1%
Sodium deoxycholate	414.55	N/A	1%
(detergent)			

Table 2.6 RIPA Protein extraction buffer pH 7.4 in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

## 2.8.2. Protein quantification

 $5 \mu$ l of protein standard (series dilution of BSA in ddH2O starting from 2.0  $\mu$ g/mL) and samples to each well of 96-well clear bottom plates. Protein concentration was measured by using the Bio-Rad DC protein assay kit (Bio-Rad; Missisauga, ON, Canada). 25  $\mu$ l of Solution A' (mixture of 1000  $\mu$ l of Solution A to 20  $\mu$ l of Solution B) and 200  $\mu$ l of Folin Reagent were added to each well. All samples were run in triplicates. The plate was wrapped with foil and incubated at the room temperature for 10 minutes. Absorbance was measured at 750 nm using SoftMax Pro. Based on the absorbance (optical density), concentration of protein was calculated. Data was plotted in scatter plots with concentration on X-axis and optical density on Y-axis. Actual concentration was calculated based on the slope

of the regression/trend line. Samples were stored at -80  $^{\circ}$ C for western blot or *in vitro* gelatinase analyses.

## 2.8.3 Western blotting

Samples were prepared by combining 25  $\mu$ g of protein, protein loading buffer (Table.2.7) and PBS (Table.2.8) and boiled for 5 minutes to denature the protein. Samples were loaded into 5% sodium dodecyl sulphate-based polyacrylamide (SDS) stacking gel and separated through SDS loading gel (8-15% gradient gel) via electrophoresis at 120V (Bio Rad; Mississauga, ON, Canada) in the presence of running buffer solution (Table 2.9).

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Tris-HCl	121.14	130 mM	65 mM
1115-1101	121.14	150 1111	
SDS	288.38	4.6%	2.3%
		0.0.1	
Bromophenol Blue	669.96	0.2%	0.1%
Glycerol	92.09	20%	10%
,			
Dithiothreitol (DTT)	154.25	2%	1%

Table 2.7 Sample loading buffer pH 6.8 in ddH<sub>2</sub>O - Western blot

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	58.44	1370 mM	137mM
Potassium chloride (KCl)	74.55	27 mM	2.7 mM
Sodium phosphate dibasic	141.96	100 mM	10 mM
(Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> )			
Potassium phosphate	136.09	18 mM	1.8 mM
monobasic (KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> )			

Table 2.8 Phosphate-buffered Saline (PBS) pH 7.4 in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

Table 2.9 Running buffer pH 8.3 in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc. <sub>final</sub>
Tris-HCl	121.14	250 mM	25 mM
Glycine	75.07	1920 mM	192 mM
Sodium dodecyl sulfate	288.38	10%	1%
(SDS)			

Samples was transferred polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane at 200 mAs for 90 minutes in the presence of transfer buffer solution (Table 2.10). The gel was stained with commasie blue staining solution (Table 2.11) for 2 hours at room temperature and destained with water. This gel was used for loading control. The membrane was blocked with 5% skim milk in TBS (Table 2.12) with 0.1% Tween (TBST) for 2 hours at room temperature.

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Tris- HCl	121.14	200 mM	20 mM
Glycine	75.07	1500 mM	150 mM
Methanol	32.04	N/A	20%

Table 2.10 Transfer buffer pH 8.3 in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

Table 2.11 Coomassie blue staining solution in ddH2O

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Coomassie Brilliant Blue	825.97	N/A	2%
Methanol	32.04	N/A	25%
Acetic acid	60.05	N/A	10%

Table 2.12 Tris-buffered Saline (TBS) pH 8.0 in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	58.44	1250 mM	125 mM
Tris-HCl	121.14	250 mM	25 mM

Primary antibody, diluted in 5% skim milk in TBST, was applied overnight at 4 °C. Next day, the membrane was washed with TBST three times for 10 minutes to remove leftover primary antibody. Appropriate species-based horse radish peroxidase (HRP) linked-secondary antibody, diluted 5% skim milk in TBST, was applied for 2 hours at room temperature. The membrane was washed with TBST three times for 10 minutes. Enhanced Chemiluminescence prime (GE Amersham; Baie d'Urfe, QC, Canada) was applied to the membrane for 5 minutes and the membrane was developed and imaged using a luminescent image analyzer housing a chemiluminescence-sensitive camera. (GE ImageQuant LAS 4000; GE). The PVDF membrane was then stripped with a mild stripping buffer (Table 2.13) for 30 min at 55  $\,^{\circ}$ C for subsequent immunoblotting of the membrane.

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Tris-HCl	121.14	1000 mM (pH 6.8)	62.5 mM
SDS	288.38	20%	2%
β-mercaptoethanol	78.13	14300mM	100mM

Table 2.13 Western blot Membrane Stripping buffer pH 6.8 in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

## 2.8.4 *In vitro* Gelatin zymography

Samples were prepared by combining 20  $\mu$ g of protein, protein loading buffer (Table.2.14) and PBS (Table.2.8). Samples were quickly centrifuged and loaded to 8% gelatin-based polyacrylamide gel. HT-1080, a fibrosarcoma cell line which produce high levels of MMPs, in particular MMP2 and MMP9, was used as a positive control. The gel was ran at 60 mA for 75 minutes. After electrophoresis, the gel was rinsed with 2.5% Triton X-100 for 1 hour to remove remaining SDS. After another washing with ice-cold substrate buffer (Table 2.15) for 40 minutes, the gel was incubated in cold substrate buffer (Table 2.16) at 37 °C for 48 hours. The substrate buffer was changed after first 24-hour incubation. The gel was stained with staining solution (Table 2.11) overnight at room temperature. The gel was destained for 1 hour using destaining solution (Table 2.17) and imaged using a luminescent image analyzer housing a chemiluminescence-sensitive camera. (GE ImageQuant LAS 4000; GE).

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Tris-HCl	121.14	125 mM	62.5 mM
	121.17		02.5 1111
Glycerol	92.09	20%	10%
SDS	288.38	4%	2%
Bromophenol Blue	669.96	0.02%	0.01%

Table 2.14 Sample loading buffer pH 6.8 in ddH<sub>2</sub>O - Zymography)<sup>38</sup>

Table 2.15 Substrate buffer in ddH<sub>2</sub>O - Zymography

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc. <sub>final</sub>
Tris-HCl	121.14	2000 mM	50 mM
Calcium chloride	147.02	2000 mM	5 mM
(CaCl <sub>2</sub> )•2H <sub>2</sub> O			
Sodium chloride (NaCl)	58.44	N/A	150 mM
Sodium azide (NaN <sub>3</sub> )	65.01	5%	0.05%

Table 2.16 Polyacrylamide Gel Staining solution in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc. <sub>final</sub>
Coomassie blue	854.00	N/A	2%
Methanol	32.04	N/A	25%
Acetic acid	60.05	N/A	10%

Chemical name	M.W. (g/mol)	Conc.stock	Conc.final
Methanol	32.04	N/A	30%
Acetic acid	60.05	N/A	1%

Table 2.17 Polyacrylamide Gel Destaining solution in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

## 2.8.5 Quantification of bands on Western blots and gelatin zymography

Quantification of the protein bands on either the western blot or zymography was measured using densitometry analysis software (ImageQuant TL 7.0; GE). Intensity of target bands relative to the background were measured. This value was normalized to the density of its corresponding loading control.

#### 2.9 Elastase *in vitro* activity assay

Total elastase activity was measured using fluorescent-based EnzChek® Elastase Assay Kit (Invitrogen; Burlingtion, ON, Canada). Soluble elastin from the kit is labeled with dye which quench fluorescence from conjugate and non-fluroescent substrate is digested by elastase which gives off fluorescence. Proteins were extracted using Cytobuster Protein Extraction Buffer (Novagen; Madison, WI, USA). 50 µl of 1×reaction buffer, 50 µl of 100 µg/mL of elastin working solution, and 100 µl of the diluted elastase were added to each well. 35 µg of protein was added to each well. Fluorescence was measured every 10 minutes for 4 hours with excitation at 485 nm and emission at 520 nm using SoftMax Pro. Data was plotted in scatter plots with time on X-axis and amount of fluorescence on Y axis. Actual activity was calculated based on the slope of the regression/trend line.

#### 2.10 Isolation of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) for cell culture

Mice were injected with 50 µL Heparin (10 units/ml; LEO Inc. Thornhill. ON. Canada) to prevent any blood clot formation inside of the aorta. After 10 minutes, mice were anesthetized with 0.2 mL of Ketamine-Xylazine combination (2 mL of 100 mg/mL Ketamine stock, 1mL of 20mg/mL Xylazine stock, and 7 mL of Normal saline 0.9%). Incision site was sterilized with 70% ethanol. Thoracic aorta (from the beneath of the atria to the diaphragm) and abdominal aorta (from the diaphragm to renal arteries) were carefully harvested in small Petri dishes containing 2 mL of PBS with gentamicin. Any adipose tissue or nerves were removed carefully. Aortic wall was exposed by cutting open in longitudinal way. Adventitial layer was peeled off with a forceps and endothelial layer was scraped off. The aorta was cut into small pieces  $(1mm \times 1mm)$  and aortic explants were placed carefully into a Petri dish. The dish was incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37  $\,^{\circ}$ C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% O<sub>2</sub> for 15 minutes. 3 mL of Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM; Invitrogen; Burlingtion, ON, Canada.) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Sigma-Aldrich; Oakville, ON, Canada), Gentamicin sulphate (Santa Cruz; Santa Cruz, CA, USA) and Fungizone (Invitrogen; Burlingtion, ON, Canada) were added to the dish. Dish was incubated for first 7 days and the medium was replaced every two days (DMEM with 10% FBS, Gentamicin sulphate and Fungizone). When cells reached greater than 90% confluency, cells were split 1:1 using 0.12% trypsin (Worthington Biochemical Corporation; Lakewood, NJ.) and 0.005% Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA; Sigma-Aldrich; Oakville, ON, Canada) in PBS.

## 2.11 Statistical analysis

•

An unpaired *t* test was used to compare the effects of regional heterogeneity in figure 3..1 Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to compare data sets with two factors (genotype and treatment). Two-way repeated-measures ANOVA analysis was performed for blood pressure data in Figures 3.5 and 3.21. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software (Chicago, Illinois, Version 10.1). Normality test (Sahpir-Wilk) was performed to confirm normal distribution of all data. Averaged values are represented as mean  $\pm$ SEM. Statistical significance is recognized at p<0.05.
### CHAPTER 3 RESULTS

### **3.1 Regional heterogeneity of the expression levels of ECM structural proteins, MMPs and TIMPs between thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT mice**

To examine regional heterogeneity of expression levels of ECM structural proteins, MMPs and TIMPs in WT mice, aortas were separated into thoracic and abdominal regions. mRNA expression levels of Collagen I, elastin, MMP2, MMP9, MMP13, MT1-MMP, TIMP1, TIMP2, TIMP3, and TIMP4 in thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT mice were measured (Figure 3.1). Compared to thoracic aorta, abdominal aorta shows significantly decreased expression levels of Collagen I, elastin. MMP2, TIMP1, TIMP2, and TIMP3. No significant differences is observed in expression levels of MMP7, MMP9, MT1-MMP and TIMP4.



Figure 3.1 mRNA expression levels of ECM structural proteins, MMPs and TIMPs in WT aortas.

Averaged mRNA expression levels of Collagen I, elastin, MMP2, MMP9, MMP13, MT1-MMP, TIMP1, TIMP2, TIMP3, and TIMP4 from WT aortas (N=5/group/genotype). \*P<0.05 for the main effect.

## 3.2 MMP2-deficient mice develop thoracic aortic aneurysm (TAA) following 4 weeks of systemic Ang II infusion

The entire aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were dissected for images (Figure 3.2). We did not find differences in baseline phenotype between WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas. Following 4 weeks of systemic Ang II infusion (1.5mg/kg/day), WT aortas underwent constructive remodeling with uniform dilation throughout the aorta. None of the WT mice developed thoracic or abdominal aortic aneurysm. We found that MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas underwent destructive remodeling and as such, 70% of these mice developed thoracic aortic aneurysm (TAA). Abdominal aortic aneurysm was not detected in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.



Figure 3.2 MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II mice developed thoracic aortic aneurysm.

Representative images of the entire aorta from saline and Ang II-infused WT and  $MMP2^{-/-}$  mice.

### **3.3 MMP2-deficient mice show impaired recoil property in thoracic aorta** following Ang II infusion

Aortic diameters were measured using ultrasound recording in B-mode (A) and M-mode (B) (Figure 3.3). Baseline aortic diameters were similar between WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II aortas exhibited greater dilation than WT – Ang II mice. Compared to other groups, MMP2-/- - Ang II aortas showed significantly reduced aortic wall motion which is indicated by the flat line in M mode (Figure 3.3B). Following Ang II infusion, both genotypes showed significantly increased systolic and diastolic aortic diameters compared to the parallel saline groups (Figure 3.4A and B). Diastolic aortic diameter was significantly different between the two genotypes following Ang II infusion (Figure 3.4Bi). Aortic expansion index, which is calculated as the percent difference between systolic and diastolic diameters, was markedly suppressed in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> -Ang II aortas compared to WT - Ang II aortas (Figure 3.4Ci). Aortic expansion index of proximal aorta was similarly reduced in both genotypes following Ang II infusion (Figure 3.4Cii). These data indicate impaired recoil property of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> -Ang II thoracic aortas.



Figure 3.3 Representative ultrasound images of the thoracic aortas from WT and  $MMP2^{-/-}$  mice.

Representative ultrasound images of the thoracic aorta taken at the B-mode (A) and M-mode (B) in saline and Ang II-infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. TAD indicates thoracic aortic diameter. SD indicates systolic diameter and DD indicates diastolic diameter.



Figure 3.4 Averaged aortic diameter and expansion index of saline and Ang II-infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Averaged systolic (A), diastolic aortic diameters (B), and aortic expansion index (C) in thoracic (i), proximal (ii), and abdominal (iii) aortas of saline and Ang II-infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (N=7/group/genotype). \*P<0.05 for the main effect, #p<0.05 for the interactions.

#### 3.4 Blood pressure is similarly increased in WT and MMP2-deficient mice

#### following Ang II infusion

During the first 2 weeks of Ang II infusion, blood pressure was measured, and WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed a similar hypertensive response to Ang II infusion (WT: 164.5±1.12 mmHg and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>: 172.9±0.24 mmHg; Figure 3.5). We did not observe a significant difference in baseline blood pressure between genotypes.



Figure 3.5 Blood pressure of WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following Ang II infusion

Blood pressure was measured using the non-invasive tail-cuff system from saline and Ang II infused WT and  $MMP2^{-/-}$  mice (N=6/group/genotype). Repeated-measures analysis was performed for statistical analysis.

## 3.5 Thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice exhibit adverse aortic remodeling following 4 weeks of Ang II infusion

We assessed aortic remodeling by analyzing the predominant arterial structural proteins, elastin and collagen fibers. Gomori trichrome (GT) staining, which indicates collagen structure in green, showed disorganization of collagen structure in the thoracic aorta of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II compared to WT - Ang II mice (Figure 3.6). Similarly, Verhoeff-Van Gieson (VVG) staining, where elastin fibers appear as black lines, showed more disruptions of elastin fibers in the thoracic aorta of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II group. We do not find differences in WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> saline mice. Abdominal aortas from saline and Ang II infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice show intact collagen and elastin fibers (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.6 Gomori trichrome (GT) and Verhoeff-Van Gieson (VVG) staining of thoracic aortas from saline and Ang II infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Representative images of thoracic aortas from saline and Ang II infused WT (A and C) and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> (B and D) mice stained with GT (i) and VVG staining (ii). Red arrows show disruption of corresponding structural proteins.



Figure 3.7 Gomori trichrome (GT) and Verhoeff-Van Gieson (VVG) staining of abdominal aortas from saline and Ang II infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Representative images of abdominal aortas from saline and Ang II infused WT (A and C) and  $MMP2^{-/-}$  (B and D) mice stained with GT (i) and VVG staining (ii).

### 3.6 Aneurysmal thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice show reduced mRNA and protein levels of elastin

In WT mice, compared to the saline group, following 4 weeks of Ang II infusion protein level of  $\alpha$ -elastin in thoracic and abdominal aortas is significantly elevated (Figure 3.7 i). Compared to the saline group, in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, protein levels of  $\alpha$ -elastin in abdominal but not thoracic aortas showed significant increase following 4 weeks of Ang II infusion (Figure 3.7 ii). Ang II infusion resulted in a significant increase in the mRNA expression of elastin in WT mice, but not in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3. iii).



Figure 3.8 Protein and mRNA expression levels of  $\alpha$ -elastin.

Representative Western blot image for  $\alpha$ -elastin (i). Average protein (ii) and mRNA (iii) levels of  $\alpha$ -elastin from saline and Ang II-infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (N=5/group/genotype). Coomassie blue-stained gel was used as the loading control. \*P<0.05 for the main effect, #p<0.05 for the interactions.

## 3.7 WT and MMP2-deficient mice do not show significant differences in protein levels of Collagen I following 4 weeks of Ang II infusion

Saline and Ang II infused aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice show similar changes in the protein levels of collagen type I (Figure 3.8 i and ii). Following Ang II infusion, Collagen I protein levels is significantly increased in WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to the parallel saline groups. mRNA expression of Collagen I is significantly increased in both WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following Ang II infusion and significant difference between the genotypes is observed in abdominal aorta (Figure 3.8 iii).



Figure 3.9 Protein and mRNA expression levels of Collagen I.

Representative western blot image for Collagen I (i). Averaged protein (i) and mRNA (ii) levels of Collagen I from saline and Ang II-infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (N=5/group/genotype). Coomassie blue-stained gel was used as the loading control. \*P<0.05 for the main effect, #p<0.05 for the interactions.

## **3.8 Expression profile of MMPs in thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT and MMP2-deficient mice**

Expression of MMPs (MMP2, MMP9, MMP13 and MT1-MMP), which have been consistently reported in aneurysmal aortas, are examined to study the role of these MMPs in TAA formation in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II mice. mRNA expression levels of MMP2, MMP9, MMP13, and MT1-MMP were measured in saline and Ang II infused thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.10). MMP2 levels were significantly elevated in both thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT - Ang II mice compared to the saline group (Figure 3.10 i). MMP9 levels were significantly elevated in WT mice following Ang II infusion but this elevation is not observed in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.10 ii). MMP13 levels were significantly elevated following Ang II infusion in all groups (Figure 3.10 iii). Abdominal aorta from WT mice showed significantly higher MMP13 levels compared to other parallel groups. MT1-MMP levels were significantly elevated in WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following Ang II infusion (Figure 3.10 iv). Taken together, mRNA expression patterns of MMP2, MMP9, MMP13, and MT1-MMP in thoracic aorta from MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> -Ang II mice does not explain TAA formation in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.



Figure 3.10 mRNA expression levels of MMP2, MMP9, MMP13 and MT1-MMP

Averaged mRNA expression levels of MMP2 (i), MMP9 (ii), MMP13 (iii), and MT1-MMP (iv) from saline and Ang II-infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas (N=5/group/genotype). \*P<0.05 for the main effect, #P<0.05 for the interactions.

### **3.9 mRNA expression levels of TIMPs in thoracic and abdominal aortas from** WT and MMP2-deficient mice

To examine the balance between MMPs and TIMPs, mRNA expression levels of endogenous MMP inhibitors, TIMPs were measured in saline and Ang II infused thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.11). mRNA expression of TIMP1 was significantly elevated in thoracic and abdominal aortas from WT-Ang II mice but in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, this increase was only observed in abdominal aortas (Figure 3.11 i). mRNA expression of TIMP2 was significantly elevated in WT aortas but the Ang II-induced increase was not observed in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas (Figure 3.11 ii). TIMP3 mRNA expression levels were only increased in Ang II infused WT abdominal aorta (Figure 3.11 iii). Ang II infused MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas showed significantly reduced TIMP3 levels compare to the parallel WT groups (Figure 3.11 iii). mRNA expression of TIMP4 was significantly elevated following Ang II infusion in WT aortas but this increase was not observed in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.11 iv).



Figure 3.11 mRNA expression levels of TIMP1, TIMP2, TIMP3, and TIMP4 from saline and Ang II infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas.

Averaged mRNA expression levels of TIMP1 (i), TIMP2 (ii), TIMP3 (iii), and TIMP4 (iv) from saline and Ang II-infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (N=5/group/genotype). \*P<0.05 for the main effect, #P<0.05 for the interactions.

### 3.10 Thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice do not show enhanced ECM degradation

In order to determine the mechanism underlying the reduction of elastin in thoracic aortic wall of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, the contributions of proteases in thoracic aortas were investigated. *In vitro* gelatin zymography showed no significant differences in MMP9 levels between WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.12). Following Ang II infusion, WT mice showed increased levels of pro-MMP2 and cleaved/active MMP2. There are no significant difference in MMP9 activation between groups. Total elastase activity was elevated in Ang II infusion groups compared to the parallel saline groups and the extent of elevation was significantly reduced in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> -Ang II mice compared to WT-Ang II mice (Figure 3.13).



Figure 3.12 No significant differences in activation of MMP9

Representative images of *in vitro* gelatin zymography (i). Averaged activation levels of pro-MMP2 (ii), MMP2 (iii), and MMP9 (iv) (N=6/group/genotype). Coomassie blue-stained gel was used as the loading control \*P<0.05 for the main effect.



Figure 3.13. No significant differences in total elastase activity

Total elastase activity of the thoracic aortas from saline and Ang II infused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (N=5/group/genotype). \*P<0.05 for the main effect, #p<0.05 for the interactions.

### 3.11 Thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice show reduced active TGFβ lovels

levels

In order to determine the underlying molecular mechanism of the development of TAA in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II mice, we examined TGF $\beta$  signaling pathway in thoracic aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Following Ang II infusion, protein level of active TGF $\beta$  were significantly elevated in WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.14). However, MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II aortas showed a significantly lower levels of active TGF $\beta$  protein compared to the parallel WT – Ang II aortas.



Figure 3.14 Protein levels of active TGF<sup>β</sup>

Representative image of western blot of active TGF $\beta$  (A). Averaged protein levels (B) of TGF $\beta$  (N=6/group/genotype). \*p<0.05 for the main effect, #p<0.05 for the interactions.

## 3.12 Thoracic aortas from MMP2-deficient mice show impaired Smad signaling pathway

In order to examine downstream of TGFβ signaling pathway, protein levels of phosphorylated-Smad2 (P-Smad2), phosphorylated-Smad3 (P-Smad3), total Smad2 and total Smad3 were measured in thoracic aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.15). WT, but not MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed significantly elevated protein levels of P-Smad2 and P-Smad3 following 4 weeks of Ang II infusion (Figure 3.15 ii and iii). Protein levels of total Smad2 and Smad3 were also significantly elevated in WT - Ang II compared to WT saline whereas this increase was not observed in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.15 iv and v).



Figure 3.15 Protein levels of P-Smad2, P-Smad3, Smad2, and Smad3.

Representative image of western blot of P-Smad2, P-Smad3, Smad2, and Smad3 (i). Averaged protein levels of P-Smad2 (ii), P-Smad3 (iii), Smad2 (iv), and Smad3 (v) (N=6/group/genotype). \*P<0.05 for the main effect, #p<0.05 for the interactions.

#### 3.13 Inflammatory cells do not contribute to the development of thoracic aortic

#### aneurysm in MMP2-deficient mice

We examined the mRNA expression levels of inflammatory markers in

thoracic aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 3.16). Following Ang II

infusion, WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas showed elevated expression levels of MCP1, and IL-1β. MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>-Ang II, but not WT-Ang II mice showed significant elevation in expression levels of TNF and IL-6. Compared to WT-Ang II, MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>-Ang II aortas showed lower levels of inflammatory markers but this difference does not reach statistical significance. Immunofluorescence staining for neutrophils was performed to examine localization of inflammatory cells in thoracic aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice and positively stained neutrophils are comparable between the four groups. (Figure 3.17).



Figure 3.16 mRNA expression levels of inflammatory markers from WT and  $MMP2^{-/-}$  thoracic aorta

Averaged mRNA expression levels of MCP1, TNF, IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aorta in response to Ang II (N=5/group/genotype). \*P<0.05 for the main effect.



Figure 3.17 Immunofluorescence staining for neutrophils

Immunofluorescence staining for neutrophils (red) superimposed with DAPI nucleus staining (blue) in thoracic aortas from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

#### 3.14 Effect of Ang II or TGF<sup>β</sup> on vascular smooth muscle cells from WT and

#### MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aorta

To identify the role of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) in susceptibility of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice to thoracic aortic aneurysm, cultured VSMCs from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aortas were treated with Ang II (10µM) or TGFβ (10ng/mL). mRNA expression levels of ECM proteins, elastin and collagen, were measured in response to Ang II or TGFβ (Figure 3.19). Ang II treatment did not increase mRNA expression of collagen type I in WT VSMCs, but resulted in a significant increase in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> VSMCs. Elastin levels were markedly elevated in both WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> VSMCs following Ang II treatment (Figure 3.18 A). In 76 respond to TGF $\beta$ , both WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> VSMCs showed significantly increased Col1 and elastin levels, indicating that the downstream pathway of TGF $\beta$  is intact in the MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> VSMCs (Figure 3.18 B).



Figure 3.18 mRNA expression of collagen and elastin in VSMCs from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aorta in response to Ang II or TGF $\beta$ 

Averaged mRNA expression levels of elastin and collagen I in response to Ang II (A) or TGF $\beta$  (B) (N=3/group/genotype). \*P<0.05 for the main effect, #p<0.05 for the interactions.

# 3.15 WT and MMP2-deficient mice are protected against aortic aneurysm following 6 weeks of nicotine infusion

To investigate the role of smoking in aortic aneurysm, nicotine (5mg/kg/day) was systemically infused to WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Following 6 weeks of nicotine infusion, WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice did not develop aortic aneurysm (Figure 3.19). Aortic diameter and expansion index were comparable between groups (Figure 3.20).



Figure 3.19 WT and  $MMP2^{-/-}$  mice did not develop aortic aneurysm following nicotine infusion

Representative images of the entire aorta from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following 6 weeks of nicotine infusion.



Figure 3.20 Averaged aortic diameters and expansion index of saline or nicotineinfused WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice

Averaged systolic (A) and diastolic aortic diameter in thoracic (i), proximal (ii), and abdominal (iii) aortas of saline and nicotine-infused WT and  $MMP2^{-/-}$  mice (N=7/group/genotype). Aortic expansion index (C) is measured.

## 3.16 WT and MMP2-deficient mice develop hypertension but not aortic aneurysm following 4 weeks of phenylephrine infusion

To investigate the role of hypertension in the development of aortic aneurysm, phenylephrine (PE; 30mg/kg/day), a sympathomimetic agent which elevates blood pressure, is systemically infused. During the first 2 weeks, blood pressure is measured and WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice show similar hypertensive

response to PE (WT:  $167.4 \pm 1.18$  mmHg and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>:  $166.0 \pm 1.75$  mmHg; Figure 3.21). Following 4 weeks of PE infusion, both WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice are protected against aortic aneurysm (Figure 3.22).



Figure 3.21 WT and  $MMP2^{-/-}$  mice showed hypertensive response following PE infusion

Black lines represent WT mice and blue lines represent  $MMP2^{-/-}$  mice (N=5/group/genotype). Blood pressure were recorded using the non-invasive tail-cuff system.



Figure 3.22 WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice do not develop aortic aneurysm following PE infusion

Representative images of the entire aorta from WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following 4 weeks of PE infusion.

### **CHAPTER 4**

### DISCUSSION

Development of aortic aneurysm is a complicated process which involves pathological changes in both cellular and extracellular levels. Integrity of the ECM is important for keeping the aortic wall intact. Homeostasis of MMPs and TIMPs levels regulates the constant turnover of the ECM under physiological condition. When this balance between MMPs and TIMPs is disrupted, excessive deposition or degradation of ECM structural proteins lead to stiffening or progressive weakening of aortic wall respectively. Mechanical strength and integrity of the aortic wall is impaired such that the aorta will undergo destructive remodeling and become prone to developing aneurysm. My interest was to study the role of MMP2 in vascular ECM remodeling and development of aortic aneurysm.

#### 4.1 Summary of important findings

With MMP2 deficiency, we observed thoracic aortic aneurysm in 70% of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice but no abdominal aortic aneurysm following four weeks of Ang II infusion. The Ang II infusion model is widely used and is a physiological relevant method to induce vascular remodeling in murine animal models. We found markedly suppressed recoil properties in the thoracic aorta of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II mice. Histological analyses showed disorganization and disruption of elastin and collagen fibers in the thoracic aorta of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II mice. In addition, mRNA and protein levels of elastin, but not collagen type I, were significantly reduced in the thoracic aorta of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II compared to WT-Ang II mice. This reduction in elastin levels was not due to excess degradation since *in vitro* gelatin zymography and total elastase activity were not elevated in the MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II mice. Our study demonstrates that loss of MMP2 impaired TGFβ-Smad 83

signaling pathway that mediates synthesis of elastin and collagen in response to stimuli such as Ang II, resulting in thoracic aortic aneurysm. Compared to WT-Ang II, MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>-Ang II showed reduced active TGF $\beta$ , and phospho-Smad2/3 levels. Therefore, the adverse remodeling in the thoracic aorta of MMP2-deficient mice was associated with decreased synthesis of ECM structural proteins without concomitant upregulation of proteolytic activities. This was the first study to demonstrate the protective role of MMP2 in Ang II-induced aortic aneurysm.

### 4.2 Regional heterogeneity leads to differential response to Ang II infusion between thoracic and abdominal aortas

Thoracic and abdominal regions of the aorta have developmental, structural and molecular heterogeneities which lead to differential histopathology between these two regions<sup>6, 204</sup>. In this study, we found that mRNA levels of MMP2 and elastin were significantly higher in WT thoracic aorta compared to abdominal aorta. This molecular heterogeneity leads to differential response to Ang II such that MMP2 deficiency promotes only TAA but not AAA. MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice has been reported to be protected against AAA, but thoracic aorta from MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice was not examined<sup>114</sup>.

The inflammatory cells have a differential role in the thoracic and abdominal aortas. The inflammatory cells play an important role in development and progression of AAA where approximately 5% of patients with AAA were exhibited inflammatory aortic aneurysm<sup>68, 69</sup>. However, inflammatory aneurysm is rare in the thoracic aorta<sup>205, 206</sup>. Consistently, we observed comparable expression

levels of inflammatory markers including TNF-α, MCP-1, IL-1β and IL-6 between WT-Ang II and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II thoracic aortas. Since inflammatory cells have been reported as the main source of MMP9<sup>207, 208</sup>, it is consistent with no upregulation of MMP9 in the thoracic aorta of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II mice was observed. These data collectively demonstrate a regional heterogeneity within the aorta such that therapeutic approaches need to be carefully applied to specific region of interest to prevent adverse side effects.

## 4.3 Imbalance between degradation and synthesis leads to thoracic aortic aneurysm in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>-Ang II mice

Aortic aneurysm is the outcome of destructive remodeling of the vascular wall ECM. The imbalance between MMPs and their endogenous inhibitors TIMPs is one of factors that mediates adverse ECM remodeling. When this balance is disrupted, the aorta undergoes pathological remodeling and becomes prone to develop aortic aneurysm.

In this study we used genetically modified MMP2-deficient mice as an animal model. Among 26 MMPs discovered to date<sup>16, 17</sup>, MMP2 has been consistently reported to be linked to patients with TAA and AAA<sup>109-112</sup>. Since we hypothesized that MMP2-deficient mice would be protected against aortic aneurysm due to suppressed ECM degrading function of MMP2, TAA formation in MMP2-deficient mice was completely opposite to what we expected. We observed that elastin levels were markedly suppressed in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>-Ang II thoracic aortas which is consistent with aneurysmal aortic specimens from patients<sup>50, 209</sup>.

Elastin plays an important role in vasculature development by regulating VSMC proliferation<sup>210, 211</sup> as such mice with a null mutation in the elastin gene ( $Eln^{-}$ <sup>/-</sup>) die shortly after birth due to occlusion of the blood vessel by over-proliferation of VSMC<sup>212</sup>. Elastin is critical in regulation of blood pressure by providing elasticity which allows the arterial wall to change the arterial diameter. Studies using elastin-haploinsufficient mice (Eln<sup>+/-</sup>) showed that the arterial pressure and the number of elastin lamellae are increased in order to compensate for vessel stiffness<sup>213, 214</sup>. TGFB has been reported to upregulate elastin synthesis by stabilizing elastin mRNA transcription<sup>126, 127, 215, 216</sup>. Surprisingly, aneurysmal VSMCs isolated from CaCl<sub>2</sub>-exposed aorta showed significantly elevated elastin synthesis in the presence of TGF<sup>β</sup> and hyaluronan oligomers which containing optimized ECM-derived bimolecular factors<sup>217</sup>. Overall, the compositional remodeling, reduced elastin and increased collagen, leads to stiffening of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II aortas and fails to withstand stress from repeated stretch and recoil during the cardiac cycle.

This is the first study to demonstrate the critical role of MMP2 in vascular ECM remodeling. MMP2, MMP9 and MT1-MMP have been shown to cleave and release latent TGF $\beta$  from the ECM<sup>121-123</sup>. Compared to WT-Ang II aortas, MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> - Ang II aortas showed significantly reduced mRNA levels of MMP9 and no significant differences in mRNA levels of MT1-MMP. Overall, these data suggest that MMP2 cleaves and activates latent TGF $\beta$  as such in the absence of MMP2, TGF $\beta$  signaling pathway is attenuated. Our finding on the protective role of MMP2 is opposite to predominant notion about the ECM degrading property of MMP2.

Thus, MMP2 levels need to be maintained at the optimal range because absence or overexpression of MMP2 would impair the integrity of the vascular ECM. Therefore, the broad spectrum MMP inhibitors or MMP2 specific inhibitors may not be a suitable therapeutic approach for TAA since reduced MMP2 levels could lead to adverse vascular remodeling which exacerbates vascular disease such as aortic aneurysm.

#### 4.4 MMP2 mediates TGFβ-Smad signaling pathway by activating latent TGFβ

TGF $\beta$ , which regulates various cellular responses, can be activated by proteases such as MMP2, MMP9 and MT1-MMP<sup>121-123, 218, 219</sup>. TGF $\beta$  is synthesized in its latent form and is sequestered by Fibrilin-1 to the ECM. Aneurysmal patients with Marfan syndrome, a genetic disorder due to a mutation in Fibrilin-1 (FBN-1), have shown upregulation of TGF $\beta$  signaling.

FBN-1 is the major fibrillin isoform in elastin fibers which regulates deposition and the organization of elastin fibers<sup>220, 221</sup>. FBN-1 forms cross-links with the elastin precursor called tropoelastin and provides a structural scaffold of microfibrils for proper spatial and temporal arrangement of elastin fibers in the ECM. Fbn1<sup>C1039G/+</sup> mice show reduction in elastin levels<sup>222, 223</sup>.

FBN-1 plays an important role in TGF $\beta$  signaling by regulating activation of TGF $\beta$  under physiological conditions. Elevation of TGF $\beta$  signaling has been reported in both human and animal with FBN malfunction<sup>115, 138, 193, 224</sup>. In addition, doxycycline, a broad-spectrum MMP inhibitor, has been reported as an effective treatment for Fbn1<sup>C1039G/+</sup> mice, well-validated animal model for Marfan syndrome<sup>193, 225</sup>. The proposed mechanism is that doxycycline attenuates aneurysm expansion by blocking MMPs especially MMP2 and MMP9.

Studies have shown up-regulation of TGF $\beta$  signaling pathway with significantly reduced elastin levels in both humans and animal models with FBN-1 mutation. The underlying mechanism for this observation is that in the absence of FBN-1, increased elastin synthesis conjoined with significantly elevated availability of activated TGF $\beta$  is observed. However, tropoelastin is not capable of depositing into microfibrils to form the elastin fibers. Therefore, elastin synthesis is elevated but the amount and stability of elastin is markedly reduced, therefore making the aorta susceptible to aortic aneurysm in Marfan syndrome.

In MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, however, the reduced elastin synthesis (rather than impaired elastin assembly as in Marfan syndrome) is associated with significantly reduced TGF $\beta$  activation and the downstream Smad signaling pathway activity, leading significantly reduced elastin levels.

Taken together, these data indicate that although histological phenotypes are similar between Marfan syndrome and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> -Ang II mice, the underlying mechanisms are completely different. In Marfan syndrome, the defect is in elastin assembly, as opposed to elastin synthesis in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> -Ang II mice. This suggests that idiopathic and genetic driven aortic aneurysm requires different therapeutic approaches and diagnostic options.

#### 4.5 Elastin but not collagen synthesis is impaired in MMP2-/-Ang II aortas

We found that MMP2 plays a major role in cleaving and activating latent TGF $\beta$ . Since the TGF $\beta$  signaling pathway has been reported to regulate collagen<sup>141,</sup> <sup>226</sup> and elastin<sup>127, 227</sup> synthesis in different cell types, it was unexpected to observe impaired elastin synthesis but intact collagen synthesis in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>-Ang II aortas. Smad signaling pathway is a canonical downstream TGF $\beta$  signaling pathway. It has been reported that Smad 2/3 and Smad 1/5/8 are activated by TGF $\beta$  but serve different roles<sup>228</sup>. Smad 1/5/8 is downstream of TGFB R2 and Smad 2/3 is downstream of TGFB R1<sup>229, 230</sup>. Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP1) deficient mice showed abnormal collagen fiber formation<sup>231</sup>. Alterations in collagen expression levels were observed with TGFβ R2 mutation<sup>139, 232, 233</sup>. Studies on CaCl<sub>2</sub>-exposed TAA mice model showed switching of Smad 2/3 to Smad 1/5/8 pathway<sup>234</sup>. Taken together, these data imply that in the absence of MMP2, impaired cleavage and activation of TGF $\beta$  mainly affects Smad 2/3 pathway that regulates elastin synthesis whereas Smad 1/5/8 pathway that regulates collagen synthesis is intact.

#### 4.6 Disparity between in vivo and in vitro data in response to Ang II

To identify the role of VSMCs in susceptibility of MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice to TAA, we examined the response of VSMCs to Ang II or TGFβ and found lack of correlation between experimental data from aortic tissue and VSMCs in response to Ang II. In WT, Ang II-induced increase in Col I expression was only observed in aortic tissues but not in VSMCs. Moreover, we observed markedly suppressed elastin levels in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup>-Ang II thoracic aortic tissues but this reduction was not

observed in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> VSMCs. While isolating VSMCs for cell culture, adventitial and endothelial layers were scraped off. By culturing VSMCs alone, the influence of endothelial cells on VSMCs was excluded. Thus, the disparity between *in vivo* and *in vitro* data in response to Ang II might be due to the absence of endothelial cells which mediate VSMCs function<sup>235-237</sup>.

### 4.7 Aneurysm formation is specific to Ang II infusion as MMP2-deficient mice do not develop aneurysm in response to nicotine or phenylephrine infusion

Smoking and hypertension are considered as risk factors of aortic aneurysm. Smoking is thought to promote the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). ROS is tightly regulated to maintain cellular homeostasis under physiological condition. ROS regulates expression and activity of MMPs by disrupting the bond between the pro and catalytic domains to expose the catalytic site of MMP for proteolytic activity<sup>238, 239</sup>. Increased proteolytic activities alter aortic wall ECM, and as such the aorta becomes prone to expansion and rupture<sup>55-60</sup>. While smoking shows a strong association to aortic aneurysm events<sup>54</sup>, the direct role of smoking in aortic aneurysm is still not clear.

In order to examine the role of smoking in aortic aneurysm, we infused nicotine via osmotic pumps. We found that nicotine alone was not sufficient to induced aortic aneurysm that we observed in Ang II infused MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. We confirmed intact structural and functional integrities of WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas following nicotine infusion. In MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> Ang II mice, TAA formation is due to reduced elastin synthesis. Moreover, WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed comparable

proteolytic activities at baseline and post-Ang II infusion. In contrast to Ang II which affects both ECM synthesis and degradation, smoking mainly alters proteolysis by activating MMPs<sup>57, 238, 239</sup>. Therefore, these data indicate that the extent of smoking-induced elastin degradation is comparable between WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, and as such, increased in proteolytic activities alone is insufficient to lead to aneurysm formation in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

Hypertension is defined as blood pressure persistently higher than physiological range (140/90 mmHg). Hypertension is the most common cardiovascular disease which affects 1 in 3 adults in the United States and untreated hypertension leads to other cardiovascular diseases<sup>240</sup>. More than 80% of patients with aortic aneurysm have hypertension<sup>61</sup>. In response to hypertension, aortic wall undergoes remodeling which significantly changes structure, mechanical properties, and function of the aorta in order to maintain wall shear stress<sup>241-243</sup>. Thus, aortic wall thickness and stiffness are increased compared to baseline<sup>244-246</sup>. However, the direct relationship between hypertension and aneurysm is still unclear. Phenylephrine (PE) is a synthetically derived  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic receptor agonist that mimics effects of norepinephrine. PE binds to post-synaptically located  $\alpha$ -receptors on VSMCs and induces vasoconstriction<sup>247, 248</sup>.

In order to examine the role of hypertension in aortic aneurysm, we infused PE. We found that BP was similarly elevated in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following Ang II or PE infusion, but none of PE mice developed TAA or AAA. We confirmed intact structural integrities of WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> aortas following PE infusion. These data
indicate that the underlying mechanism of TAA formation in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following Ang II infusion is independent of hypertension.

Taken together, protection against aortic aneurysm following nicotine or PE infusion confirms that TAA development is specific response to Ang II infusion. From these data, we confirmed that TAA formation in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice is due to reduced elastin synthesis but not due to increases in proteolysis nor hypertension.

# 4.8 Conclusion

The findings in this thesis show that the balance between degradation and synthesis of ECM components is crucial in maintaining the integrity of the ECM. MMP2 plays an important role in vascular remodeling by mediating TGF $\beta$  activation such that reduced MMP2 levels lead to formation of aortic aneurysm. Interestingly, aortic aneurysm is observed in thoracic but not abdominal aortas due to developmental, structural and molecular heterogeneities between these two regions of the aorta. The protective role of MMP2 in thoracic aortic aneurysm provides a new perspective of examining role of MMP2 in vascular remodeling.

#### 4.9 Study limitations

#### **4.9.1** Whole-body knockout mice as an experimental disease model

The usage of whole body knockout mice is widely used approach to examine direct role of specific gene. However, since many genes have multiple roles in producing different phenotypic characteristics, we took precautions to minimize possible implications of gene deletion in other organs including the heart and the kidneys in the development of aortic aneurysm. We used a large number of MMP2-deficient mice where we found comparable baseline vascular function, and structural and molecular changes between WT and MMP2-deficient mice. In addition, with MMP2-deficient mice, we observed similar pathological conditions as human TAA patients present. We were certain that aneurysm formation is primary due to Ang II infusion as we did not observe baseline defects in cardiovascular structure or function. However, since the RAAS exists in several organs including the heart and the kidneys, organ specific or conditional knockout would be a better approach to limit the effect of systemically infused Ang II on other organs.

#### 4.9.2 Studies on vascular smooth muscle cell culture

Elastin which is responsible for the mechanical properties of the aorta, is predominantly synthesized by VSMCs<sup>11</sup>. VSMCs are important in vascular function during pathological condition. VSMCs regulate contraction and blood vessel tone-diameter<sup>249</sup>. VSMCs exhibit phenotypic plasticity during pathological conditions to promote repair and remodeling of aortic wall via activation of cell migration and proliferation<sup>250, 251</sup>. Contractile function of VSMCs have been shown to prevent TAA and aortic dissections<sup>252</sup>. It has been reported that VSMCs apoptosis is one of the pathological vascular remodeling that result in TAA and AAA<sup>10, 47, 253-255</sup>. In pathological conditions, due to VSMCs apoptosis in the tunica media in aortic wall, the aorta is not capable of undergoing constructive vascular remodeling which then leads to thinning of the aortic wall.

In this study, we examined the response of VSMCs to Ang II or TGF $\beta$ . We expected impaired elastin synthesis in VSMCs from MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, but we found that elastin expression levels were comparable between WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following Ang II treatment. VSMCs behave differently in culture than *in vivo* in the aortic wall since the aortic wall consists of VSMCs, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and other ECM proteins. As a result, by excluding the interaction between the VSMCs and other cell types (e.g. endothelial cells and fibroblasts) within the aortic wall, our data from VSMCs are limited to examining what is happening in these cells alone.

#### **4.10 Future directions**

#### **4.10.1 Rescue experiments**

In this study, I mainly focused on identifying the role of MMP2 in aortic aneurysm so I did not perform any rescue experiments. Since MMP2, which is a main MMP, has already deleted and the underlying mechanism in the observed TAA involves reduced elastin synthesis with reduced proteolytic activities, using a broad spectrum MMP inhibitor is not a good rescue approach. In addition, in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, we observed reduced elastin levels due to impaired TGFβ signaling pathway. Thus, RNA interference (RNAi) technique using microRNA (miRNA) that regulates multiple mRNAs to reduce the protein levels of their target genes may not be useful in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice<sup>256, 257</sup>.

Since in vitro experiment showed that intact downstream TGF $\beta$  signaling pathway in VSMCs from MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> thoracic aortas, a potential rescue approach in

preventing aneurysm progression could be replenishment of TGF $\beta$  using gene therapy such as adeno-associated viral vectors. Adenovirus is a non-enveloped virus containing a double-stranded DNA genome. The adenoviral vectors containing the gene of interest can be injected directly to the aneurysmal aortic tissue to introduce the specific gene of interest to synthesize functional proteins<sup>258</sup>. However, injected adenoviral vectors might initiates immune responses by activating inflammatory cytokines<sup>259-261</sup>. In addition, molecular and cellular changes vary depending on the location, etiology, and size of the aneurysm. Thus, more research is necessary to ensure safety and effectiveness of replenishing TGF $\beta$ to prevent progression of thoracic aortic aneurysm. Moreover, proper screening approach is needed to identify patients with thoracic aortic aneurysm due to significant reduction of MMP2 levels.

### 4.10.2 Influence of endothelial cells on vascular smooth muscle cells

Modification of the experimental protocol is needed to examine the disparity that we found between *in vivo* and *in vitro* data. The endothelial cells in the aortic wall can release paracrine factors to mediate VSMCs function<sup>235-237</sup>. In the future, it would be helpful to understand the interaction between endothelial cells and VSMCs by co-culturing VSMCs with endothelial cells, or to treat VSMCs with Endothelin-1 which has also been shown to activate VSMCs<sup>262, 263</sup>. In addition, it would be useful to see how these co-cultured cells respond to both Ang II and TGF $\beta$ . If cells show impaired elastin synthesis, addition of recombinant MMP2 can be used as a rescue option. This will provide role of VSMCs in the formation of aortic aneurysm.

## 4.10.3 TAA development in females

We used WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> male mice to investigate the role of MMP2 in aortic aneurysm. Our preliminary data showed that MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> female mice were protected against AAA and TAA. These data suggest that MMP2 appears to have a regional and gender specific impact in Ang II-induced aortic remodeling, such that lack of MMP2 leads to thoracic aortic aneurysm in male but not in female mice. It has been reported that estrogen plays a protective role in cardiovascular diseases. Following estrogen treatment, reduction in cholesterol levels and aortic legion size were observed<sup>264-266</sup>. By regulating expression of MMPs, estrogen plays a role in vascular remodeling<sup>266</sup>. Several literatures showed the role of estrogen in reninangiotensin system where estrogen reduced expression of Angiotensin II receptor type 1 and Angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE)<sup>267-269</sup>. It would be informative and useful to examine gender-specific heterogeneity in the expression pattern of the ECM components and other related factors in aortic wall. By comparing male and female mice, it will provide crucial information on the underlying mechanisms as well as possible therapeutic interventions for aortic aneurysm.

# 4.10.4 Temporal molecular and cellular events during progression of TAA in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice post-Ang II infusion

In this study, we examined vascular remodeling in WT and MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice following 4 weeks of Ang II infusion. It would be useful to examine molecular and cellular changes at different time points (2 weeks and 8 weeks post-Ang II infusion). Temporal changes in the abundance of MMPs and TIMPs has been examined in from CaCl<sub>2</sub>-exposed TAA in mice<sup>270</sup>. However, temporal changes in 96 infiltration of inflammatory cells, oxidative stress, and ECM remodeling have not been yet explored. Thus, it would be useful to profile temporal changes in MMPs, TIMPs, inflammatory cells, oxidative stress, proteolytic activities (elastase and collagenase activities), and synthesis of ECM components (TGF $\beta$  signaling pathway) in MMP2<sup>-/-</sup> mice at different time points. This will provide a better understanding of temporal relationship between molecular and cellular changes that occur throughout the progression of aortic aneurysm.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Coady MA, Rizzo JA, Goldstein LJ, Elefteriades JA. Natural history, pathogenesis, and etiology of thoracic aortic aneurysms and dissections. *Cardiology clinics*. 1999;17:615-635; vii
- 2. Lammert E, Axnick J. Vascular lumen formation. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*. 2012;2:a006619
- 3. Michiels C. Endothelial cell functions. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 2003;196:430-443
- 4. Tortora GJ, Derrickson BH. *Principles of anatomy & physiology*. New Jersey: Wiley; 2012.
- 5. Leroux-Berger M, Queguiner I, Maciel TT, Ho A, Relaix F, Kempf H. Pathologic calcification of adult vascular smooth muscle cells differs on their crest or mesodermal embryonic origin. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research.* 2011;26:1543-1553
- Gadson PF, Jr., Dalton ML, Patterson E, Svoboda DD, Hutchinson L,
  Schram D, Rosenquist TH. Differential response of mesoderm- and neural crest-derived smooth muscle to tgf-beta1: Regulation of c-myb and alpha1 (i) procollagen genes. *Experimental cell research*. 1997;230:169-180
- 7. Boudoulas KD, Vlachopoulos C, Raman SV, Sparks EA, Triposciadis F, Stefanadis C, Boudoulas H. Aortic function: From the research laboratory to the clinic. *Cardiology*. 2012;121:31-42
- 8. Sokolis DP, Boudoulas H, Karayannacos PE. Segmental differences of aortic function and composition: Clinical implications. *Hellenic journal of cardiology : HJC = Hellenike kardiologike epitheorese*. 2008;49:145-154
- 9. Absi TS, Sundt TM, Tung WS, Moon M, Lee JK, Damiano RR, Thompson RW. Altered patterns of gene expression distinguishing ascending aortic aneurysms from abdominal aortic aneurysms: Complementary DNA expression profiling in the molecular characterization of aortic disease. *Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery*. 2003;126:344-357
- Thompson RW, Geraghty PJ, Lee JK. Abdominal aortic aneurysms: Basic mechanisms and clinical implications. *Current problems in surgery*. 2002;39:110-230
- 11. Wagenseil JE, Mecham RP. Vascular extracellular matrix and arterial mechanics. *Physiological reviews*. 2009;89:957-989
- 12. Fan D, Takawale A, Lee J, Kassiri Z. Cardiac fibroblasts, fibrosis and extracellular matrix remodeling in heart disease. *Fibrogenesis & tissue repair*. 2012;5:15
- 13. Vu TH, Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases: Effectors of development and normal physiology. *Genes & development*. 2000;14:2123-2133
- 14. McCawley LJ, Matrisian LM. Matrix metalloproteinases: They're not just for matrix anymore! *Current opinion in cell biology*. 2001;13:534-540

- Hadler-Olsen E, Fadnes B, Sylte I, Uhlin-Hansen L, Winberg JO. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase activity in health and disease. *The FEBS journal*. 2011;278:28-45
- 16. Rodriguez D, Morrison CJ, Overall CM. Matrix metalloproteinases: What do they not do? New substrates and biological roles identified by murine models and proteomics. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2010;1803:39-54
- 17. Clark IM, Swingler TE, Sampieri CL, Edwards DR. The regulation of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*. 2008;40:1362-1378
- 18. Steffensen B, Wallon UM, Overall CM. Extracellular matrix binding properties of recombinant fibronectin type ii-like modules of human 72-kda gelatinase/type iv collagenase. High affinity binding to native type i collagen but not native type iv collagen. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1995;270:11555-11566
- 19. Allan JA, Docherty AJ, Barker PJ, Huskisson NS, Reynolds JJ, Murphy G. Binding of gelatinases a and b to type-i collagen and other matrix components. *The Biochemical journal*. 1995;309 (Pt 1):299-306
- 20. McMillan WD, Patterson BK, Keen RR, Shively VP, Cipollone M, Pearce WH. In situ localization and quantification of mrna for 92-kd type iv collagenase and its inhibitor in aneurysmal, occlusive, and normal aorta. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1995;15:1139-1144
- 21. Somerville RP, Oblander SA, Apte SS. Matrix metalloproteinases: Old dogs with new tricks. *Genome biology*. 2003;4:216
- 22. Sternlicht MD, Werb Z. How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology*. 2001;17:463-516
- 23. Springman EB, Angleton EL, Birkedal-Hansen H, Van Wart HE. Multiple modes of activation of latent human fibroblast collagenase: Evidence for the role of a cys73 active-site zinc complex in latency and a "cysteine switch" mechanism for activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1990;87:364-368
- 24. Knauper V, Docherty AJ, Smith B, Tschesche H, Murphy G. Analysis of the contribution of the hinge region of human neutrophil collagenase (hnc, mmp-8) to stability and collagenolytic activity by alanine scanning mutagenesis. *FEBS letters*. 1997;405:60-64
- 25. Patterson ML, Atkinson SJ, Knauper V, Murphy G. Specific collagenolysis by gelatinase a, mmp-2, is determined by the hemopexin domain and not the fibronectin-like domain. *FEBS letters*. 2001;503:158-162
- 26. Overall CM. Molecular determinants of metalloproteinase substrate specificity: Matrix metalloproteinase substrate binding domains, modules, and exosites. *Molecular biotechnology*. 2002;22:51-86
- 27. Deschamps AM, Spinale FG. Pathways of matrix metalloproteinase induction in heart failure: Bioactive molecules and transcriptional regulation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2006;69:666-676

- 28. Bergman MR, Cheng S, Honbo N, Piacentini L, Karliner JS, Lovett DH. A functional activating protein 1 (ap-1) site regulates matrix metalloproteinase 2 (mmp-2) transcription by cardiac cells through interactions with junb-fra1 and junb-fosb heterodimers. *The Biochemical journal*. 2003;369:485-496
- 29. Alfonso-Jaume MA, Bergman MR, Mahimkar R, Cheng S, Jin ZQ, Karliner JS, Lovett DH. Cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury induces matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression through the ap-1 components fosb and junb. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2006;291:H1838-1846
- 30. Siwik DA, Chang DL, Colucci WS. Interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha decrease collagen synthesis and increase matrix metalloproteinase activity in cardiac fibroblasts in vitro. *Circulation research*. 2000;86:1259-1265
- 31. Visse R, Nagase H. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: Structure, function, and biochemistry. *Circulation research*. 2003;92:827-839
- 32. Ra HJ, Parks WC. Control of matrix metalloproteinase catalytic activity. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*. 2007;26:587-596
- 33. Lambert E, Dasse E, Haye B, Petitfrere E. Timps as multifacial proteins. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology*. 2004;49:187-198
- Murphy G, Houbrechts A, Cockett MI, Williamson RA, O'Shea M, Docherty AJ. The n-terminal domain of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases retains metalloproteinase inhibitory activity. *Biochemistry*. 1991;30:8097-8102
- 35. Gomez DE, Alonso DF, Yoshiji H, Thorgeirsson UP. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: Structure, regulation and biological functions. *European journal of cell biology*. 1997;74:111-122
- 36. Brew K, Dinakarpandian D, Nagase H. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: Evolution, structure and function. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2000;1477:267-283
- 37. Wang Z, Juttermann R, Soloway PD. Timp-2 is required for efficient activation of prommp-2 in vivo. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2000;275:26411-26415
- English JL, Kassiri Z, Koskivirta I, Atkinson SJ, Di Grappa M, Soloway PD, Nagase H, Vuorio E, Murphy G, Khokha R. Individual timp deficiencies differentially impact pro-mmp-2 activation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2006;281:10337-10346
- Caterina JJ, Yamada S, Caterina NC, Longenecker G, Holmback K, Shi J, Yermovsky AE, Engler JA, Birkedal-Hansen H. Inactivating mutation of the mouse tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2(timp-2) gene alters prommp-2 activation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2000;275:26416-26422

- 40. Stetler-Stevenson WG, Bersch N, Golde DW. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 (timp-2) has erythroid-potentiating activity. *FEBS letters*. 1992;296:231-234
- 41. Qi JH, Ebrahem Q, Moore N, Murphy G, Claesson-Welsh L, Bond M, Baker A, Anand-Apte B. A novel function for tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 (timp3): Inhibition of angiogenesis by blockage of vegf binding to vegf receptor-2. *Nature medicine*. 2003;9:407-415
- 42. Baker AH, Zaltsman AB, George SJ, Newby AC. Divergent effects of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1, -2, or -3 overexpression on rat vascular smooth muscle cell invasion, proliferation, and death in vitro. Timp-3 promotes apoptosis. *J Clin Invest*. 1998;101:1478-1487
- 43. Moore L, Fan D, Basu R, Kandalam V, Kassiri Z. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (timps) in heart failure. *Heart Fail Rev*.17:693-706
- Mulvany MJ, Baumbach GL, Aalkjaer C, Heagerty AM, Korsgaard N, Schiffrin EL, Heistad DD. Vascular remodeling. *Hypertension*. 1996;28:505-506
- 45. Campa JS, Greenhalgh RM, Powell JT. Elastin degradation in abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Atherosclerosis*. 1987;65:13-21
- 46. Menashi S, Campa JS, Greenhalgh RM, Powell JT. Collagen in abdominal aortic aneurysm: Typing, content, and degradation. *J Vasc Surg*. 1987;6:578-582
- 47. Lopez-Candales A, Holmes DR, Liao S, Scott MJ, Wickline SA, Thompson RW. Decreased vascular smooth muscle cell density in medial degeneration of human abdominal aortic aneurysms. *The American journal of pathology*. 1997;150:993-1007
- 48. Meng YH, Tian C, Liu L, Wang L, Liu WZ, Chang Q. [expression of connective tissue growth factor and pathological remodeling in ascending thoracic aortic aneurysm]. *Zhonghua wai ke za zhi [Chinese journal of surgery]*. 2011;49:261-265
- 49. Hellenthal FAMVI, Geenen ILA, Teijink JAW, Heeneman S, Schurink GWH. Histological features of human abdominal aortic aneurysm are not related to clinical characteristics. *Cardiovascular Pathology*. 2009;18:286-293
- 50. Iliopoulos DC, Kritharis EP, Giagini AT, Papadodima SA, Sokolis DP. Ascending thoracic aortic aneurysms are associated with compositional remodeling and vessel stiffening but not weakening in age-matched subjects. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2009;137:101-109
- 51. Santilli SM, Littooy FN, Cambria RA, Rapp JH, Tretinyak AS, d'Audiffret AC, Kuskowski MA, Roethle ST, Tomczak CM, Krupski WC. Expansion rates and outcomes for the 3.0-cm to the 3.9-cm infrarenal abdominal aortic aneurysm. *J Vasc Surg.* 2002;35:666-671
- 52. Hirsch AT, Haskal ZJ, Hertzer NR, Bakal CW, Creager MA, Halperin JL, Hiratzka LF, Murphy WR, Olin JW, Puschett JB, Rosenfield KA, Sacks D, Stanley JC, Taylor LM, Jr., White CJ, White J, White RA, Antman EM, Smith SC, Jr., Adams CD, Anderson JL, Faxon DP, Fuster V,

Gibbons RJ, Hunt SA, Jacobs AK, Nishimura R, Ornato JP, Page RL, Riegel B. Acc/aha 2005 practice guidelines for the management of patients with peripheral arterial disease (lower extremity, renal, mesenteric, and abdominal aortic): A collaborative report from the american association for vascular surgery/society for vascular surgery, society for cardiovascular angiography and interventions, society for vascular medicine and biology, society of interventional radiology, and the acc/aha task force on practice guidelines (writing committee to develop guidelines for the management of patients with peripheral arterial disease): Endorsed by the american association of cardiovascular and pulmonary rehabilitation; national heart, lung, and blood institute; society for vascular nursing; transatlantic inter-society consensus; and vascular disease foundation. *Circulation*. 2006;113:e463-654

- 53. Spark JI, Baker JL, Vowden P, Wilkinson D. Epidemiology of abdominal aortic aneurysms in the asian community. *The British journal of surgery*. 2001;88:382-384
- 54. Lederle FA, Nelson DB, Joseph AM. Smokers' relative risk for aortic aneurysm compared with other smoking-related diseases: A systematic review. *J Vasc Surg*. 2003;38:329-334
- 55. Ana Fortu ño GSJ, Mar á U Moreno1, Javier D éz12 and Guillermo Zalba. Oxidative stress and vascular remodelling. *Experimental physiology*. 2005:452-462
- 56. Wang S, Zhang C, Zhang M, Liang B, Zhu H, Lee J, Viollet B, Xia L, Zhang Y, Zou MH. Activation of amp-activated protein kinase alpha2 by nicotine instigates formation of abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice in vivo. *Nature medicine*. 2012;18:902-910
- 57. Rajagopalan S, Meng XP, Ramasamy S, Harrison DG, Galis ZS. Reactive oxygen species produced by macrophage-derived foam cells regulate the activity of vascular matrix metalloproteinases in vitro implications for atherosclerotic plaque stability. *J Clin Invest*. 1996;98:2572-2579
- 58. Wilmink TBM, Quick CRG, Day NE. The association between cigarette smoking and abdominal aortic aneurysms. *J Vasc Surg.* 1999;30:1099-1105
- 59. Brady AR, Thompson SG, Fowkes FG, Greenhalgh RM, Powell JT. Abdominal aortic aneurysm expansion: Risk factors and time intervals for surveillance. *Circulation*. 2004;110:16-21
- 60. Wilmink TB, Quick CR, Day NE. The association between cigarette smoking and abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Journal of vascular surgery :* official publication, the Society for Vascular Surgery [and] International Society for Cardiovascular Surgery, North American Chapter. 1999;30:1099-1105
- 61. Ito S, Akutsu K, Tamori Y, Sakamoto S, Yoshimuta T, Hashimoto H, Takeshita S. Differences in atherosclerotic profiles between patients with thoracic and abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Am J Cardiol*. 2008;101:696-699

- 62. Powell JT, Brown LC. The natural history of abdominal aortic aneurysms and their risk of rupture. *Acta chirurgica Belgica*. 2001;101:11-16
- 63. Homma S, Troxclair DA, Zieske AW, Malcom GT, Strong JP. Histological topographical comparisons of atherosclerosis progression in juveniles and young adults. *Atherosclerosis*. 2008;197:791-798
- 64. McConathy WJ, Alaupovic P, Woolcock N, Laing SP, Powell J, Greenhalgh R. Lipids and apolipoprotein profiles in men with aneurysmal and stenosing aorto-iliac atherosclerosis. *European journal of vascular surgery*. 1989;3:511-514
- 65. Darling RC, 3rd, Brewster DC, Darling RC, LaMuraglia GM, Moncure AC, Cambria RP, Abbott WM. Are familial abdominal aortic aneurysms different? *J Vasc Surg.* 1989;10:39-43
- 66. Webster MW, Ferrell RE, St Jean PL, Majumder PP, Fogel SR, Steed DL. Ultrasound screening of first-degree relatives of patients with an abdominal aortic aneurysm. *J Vasc Surg.* 1991;13:9-13; discussion 13-14
- 67. Bonamigo TP, Bianco C, Becker M, Puricelli Faccini F. Inflammatory aneurysms of infra-renal abdominal aorta. A case-control study. *Minerva cardioangiologica*. 2002;50:253-258
- 68. Cavallaro A, Sapienza P, di Marzo L, Mosiello G, Marchetti G, La Fauci M. [inflammatory aneurysm of the abdominal aorta. Study of 355 patients with aortic aneurysm]. *Recenti progressi in medicina*. 2001;92:269-273
- 69. Pennell RC, Hollier LH, Lie JT, Bernatz PE, Joyce JW, Pairolero PC, Cherry KJ, Hallett JW. Inflammatory abdominal aortic aneurysms: A thirty-year review. *J Vasc Surg*. 1985;2:859-869
- 70. Hannuksela M, Lundqvist S, Carlberg B. Thoracic aorta--dilated or not? *Scandinavian cardiovascular journal : SCJ*. 2006;40:175-178
- 71. Davies RR, Goldstein LJ, Coady MA, Tittle SL, Rizzo JA, Kopf GS, Elefteriades JA. Yearly rupture or dissection rates for thoracic aortic aneurysms: Simple prediction based on size. *The Annals of thoracic surgery*. 2002;73:17-27; discussion 27-18
- 72. Fedak PW, Verma S, David TE, Leask RL, Weisel RD, Butany J. Clinical and pathophysiological implications of a bicuspid aortic valve. *Circulation*. 2002;106:900-904
- 73. Braverman AC BM. *The bicuspid aortic valve*. Philadelphi; 2009.
- 74. Kent KC, Crenshaw ML, Goh DL, Dietz HC. Genotype-phenotype correlation in patients with bicuspid aortic valve and aneurysm. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2013;146:158-165.e151
- 75. Jones JA, Stroud RE, Kaplan BS, Leone AM, Bavaria JE, Gorman JH, 3rd, Gorman RC, Ikonomidis JS. Differential protein kinase c isoform abundance in ascending aortic aneurysms from patients with bicuspid versus tricuspid aortic valves. *Circulation*. 2007;116:I144-149
- 76. Phillippi JA, Green BR, Eskay MA, Kotlarczyk MP, Hill MR, Robertson AM, Watkins SC, Vorp DA, Gleason TG. Mechanism of aortic medial matrix remodeling is distinct in patients with bicuspid aortic valve. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2013

- 77. Ando M, Okita Y, Morota T, Takamoto S. Thoracic aortic aneurysm associated with congenital bicuspid aortic valve. *Cardiovascular surgery* (*London, England*). 1998;6:629-634
- 78. Hahn RT, Roman MJ, Mogtader AH, Devereux RB. Association of aortic dilation with regurgitant, stenotic and functionally normal bicuspid aortic valves. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 1992;19:283-288
- Ikonomidis JS, Jones JA, Barbour JR, Stroud RE, Clark LL, Kaplan BS, Zeeshan A, Bavaria JE, Gorman JH, 3rd, Spinale FG, Gorman RC. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and endogenous inhibitors within ascending aortic aneurysms of patients with bicuspid or tricuspid aortic valves. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2007;133:1028-1036
- 80. LeMaire SA, Wang X, Wilks JA, Carter SA, Wen S, Won T, Leonardelli D, Anand G, Conklin LD, Wang XL, Thompson RW, Coselli JS. Matrix metalloproteinases in ascending aortic aneurysms: Bicuspid versus trileaflet aortic valves. *The Journal of surgical research*. 2005;123:40-48
- 81. Fedak PW, de Sa MP, Verma S, Nili N, Kazemian P, Butany J, Strauss BH, Weisel RD, David TE. Vascular matrix remodeling in patients with bicuspid aortic valve malformations: Implications for aortic dilatation. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2003;126:797-806
- Coady MA, Davies RR, Roberts M, Goldstein LJ, Rogalski MJ, Rizzo JA, Hammond GL, Kopf GS, Elefteriades JA. Familial patterns of thoracic aortic aneurysms. *Arch Surg.* 1999;134:361-367
- 83. Hiratzka LF, Bakris GL, Beckman JA, Bersin RM, Carr VF, Casey DE, Jr., Eagle KA, Hermann LK, Isselbacher EM, Kazerooni EA, Kouchoukos NT, Lytle BW, Milewicz DM, Reich DL, Sen S, Shinn JA, Svensson LG, Williams DM. 2010 accf/aha/aats/acr/asa/sca/scai/sir/sts/svm guidelines for the diagnosis and management of patients with thoracic aortic disease: A report of the american college of cardiology foundation/american heart association task force on practice guidelines, american association for thoracic surgery, american college of radiology, american stroke association, society of cardiovascular anesthesiologists, society for cardiovascular angiography and interventions, society of interventional radiology, society of thoracic surgeons, and society for vascular medicine. *Circulation*. 2010;121:e266-369
- 84. Hughes GC. Aggressive aortic replacement for loeys-dietz syndrome. *Texas Heart Institute journal / from the Texas Heart Institute of St. Luke's Episcopal Hospital, Texas Children's Hospital.* 2011;38:663-666
- 85. Kerr GS, Hallahan CW, Giordano J, Leavitt RY, Fauci AS, Rottem M, Hoffman GS. Takayasu arteritis. *Annals of internal medicine*. 1994;120:919-929
- 86. Yajima M, Numano F, Park YB, Sagar S. Comparative studies of patients with takayasu arteritis in japan, korea and india--comparison of clinical manifestations, angiography and hla-b antigen. *Japanese circulation journal*. 1994;58:9-14

- 87. Borchers AT, Gershwin ME. Giant cell arteritis: A review of classification, pathophysiology, geoepidemiology and treatment. *Autoimmunity reviews*. 2012;11:A544-554
- 88. Khatibzadeh M, Mitusch R, Stierle U, Gromoll B, Sheikhzadeh A. Aortic atherosclerotic plaques as a source of systemic embolism. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 1996;27:664-669
- 89. Miles WM ZD. Aortic and peripheral vascular disease. 1990:114-119
- 90. Patel HJ, Deeb GM. Ascending and arch aorta: Pathology, natural history, and treatment. *Circulation*. 2008;118:188-195
- 91. Propranolol for small abdominal aortic aneurysms: Results of a randomized trial. *Journal of vascular surgery : official publication, the Society for Vascular Surgery [and] International Society for Cardiovascular Surgery, North American Chapter.* 2002;35:72-79
- 92. Sweeting MJ, Thompson SG, Brown LC, Greenhalgh RM, Powell JT. Use of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors is associated with increased growth rate of abdominal aortic aneurysms. *J Vasc Surg*. 2010;52:1-4
- 93. Hackam DG, Thiruchelvam D, Redelmeier DA. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and aortic rupture: A population-based case-control study. *Lancet*. 2006;368:659-665
- 94. Ferguson CD, Clancy P, Bourke B, Walker PJ, Dear A, Buckenham T, Norman P, Golledge J. Association of statin prescription with small abdominal aortic aneurysm progression. *American heart journal*. 2010;159:307-313
- 95. Baxter BT, Pearce WH, Waltke EA, Littooy FN, Hallett JW, Jr., Kent KC, Upchurch GR, Jr., Chaikof EL, Mills JL, Fleckten B, Longo GM, Lee JK, Thompson RW. Prolonged administration of doxycycline in patients with small asymptomatic abdominal aortic aneurysms: Report of a prospective (phase ii) multicenter study. *J Vasc Surg*. 2002;36:1-12
- 96. Mosorin M, Juvonen J, Biancari F, Satta J, Surcel HM, Leinonen M, Saikku P, Juvonen T. Use of doxycycline to decrease the growth rate of abdominal aortic aneurysms: A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled pilot study. *J Vasc Surg.* 2001;34:606-610
- 97. Vammen S, Lindholt JS, Ostergaard L, Fasting H, Henneberg EW. Randomized double-blind controlled trial of roxithromycin for prevention of abdominal aortic aneurysm expansion. *The British journal of surgery*. 2001;88:1066-1072
- 98. Shores J, Berger KR, Murphy EA, Pyeritz RE. Progression of aortic dilatation and the benefit of long-term beta-adrenergic blockade in marfan's syndrome. *The New England journal of medicine*. 1994;330:1335-1341
- 99. Ahimastos AA, Aggarwal A, D'Orsa KM, Formosa MF, White AJ, Savarirayan R, Dart AM, Kingwell BA. Effect of perindopril on large artery stiffness and aortic root diameter in patients with marfan syndrome: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association*. 2007;298:1539-1547

- 100. Brooke BS, Habashi JP, Judge DP, Patel N, Loeys B, Dietz HC, 3rd. Angiotensin ii blockade and aortic-root dilation in marfan's syndrome. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2008;358:2787-2795
- 101. Diehm N, Becker G, Katzen B, Benenati J, Kovacs M, Dick F. Statins are associated with decreased mortality in abdominal, but not in thoracic aortic aneurysm patients undergoing endovascular repair: Propensity score-adjusted analysis. VASA. Zeitschrift fur Gefasskrankheiten. 2008;37:241-249
- 102. Henderson EL, Geng YJ, Sukhova GK, Whittemore AD, Knox J, Libby P. Death of smooth muscle cells and expression of mediators of apoptosis by t lymphocytes in human abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Circulation*. 1999;99:96-104
- 103. Danyi P, Elefteriades JA, Jovin IS. Medical therapy of thoracic aortic aneurysms are we there yet? *Circulation*. 2011;124:1469-1476
- 104. Eagleton MJ. Molecular diagnoses and treatments--past, present, or future? *Seminars in vascular surgery*. 2007;20:128-134
- 105. Absi TS, Sundt TM, 3rd, Tung WS, Moon M, Lee JK, Damiano RR, Jr., Thompson RW. Altered patterns of gene expression distinguishing ascending aortic aneurysms from abdominal aortic aneurysms: Complementary DNA expression profiling in the molecular characterization of aortic disease. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2003;126:344-357; discission 357
- 106. Tung WS, Lee JK, Thompson RW. Simultaneous analysis of 1176 gene products in normal human aorta and abdominal aortic aneurysms using a membrane-based complementary DNA expression array. *J Vasc Surg.* 2001;34:143-150
- 107. Goodall S, Crowther M, Hemingway DM, Bell PR, Thompson MM. Ubiquitous elevation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in the vasculature of patients with abdominal aneurysms. *Circulation*. 2001;104:304-309
- 108. Okada Y, Morodomi T, Enghild JJ, Suzuki K, Yasui A, Nakanishi I, Salvesen G, Nagase H. Matrix metalloproteinase 2 from human rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts. Purification and activation of the precursor and enzymic properties. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS*. 1990;194:721-730
- 109. Ikonomidis JS, Jones JA, Barbour JR, Stroud RE, Clark LL, Kaplan BS, Zeeshan A, Bavaria JE, Gorman JH, Spinale FG, Gorman RC. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and endogenous inhibitors within ascending aortic aneurysms of patients with marfan syndrome. *Circulation*. 2006;114:I365-I370
- 110. Freestone T, Turner RJ, Coady A, Higman DJ, Greenhalgh RM, Powell JT. Inflammation and matrix metalloproteinases in the enlarging abdominal aortic-aneurysm. *Arterioscl Throm Vas.* 1995;15:1145-1151
- 111. Crowther M, Brindle NPJ, Sayers R, Bell PRF, Thompson MM. Aneurysmal smooth muscle cells exhibit increased matrix

metalloproteinase-2 production in vitro. Ann Ny Acad Sci. 1996;800:283-285

- 112. Jones JA, Zavadzkas JA, Chang EI, Sheats N, Koval C, Stroud RE, Spinale FG, Ikonomidis JS. Cellular phenotype transformation occurs during thoracic aortic aneurysm development. *J Thorac Cardiov Sur*. 2010;140:653-659
- 113. Schmoker JD, McPartland KJ, Fellinger EK, Boyum J, Trombley L, Ittleman FP, Terrien C, 3rd, Stanley A, Howard A. Matrix metalloproteinase and tissue inhibitor expression in atherosclerotic and nonatherosclerotic thoracic aortic aneurysms. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2007;133:155-161
- 114. Longo GM, Xiong W, Greiner TC, Zhao Y, Fiotti N, Baxter BT. Matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9 work in concert to produce aortic aneurysms. *J Clin Invest*. 2002;110:625-632
- 115. Ikonomidis JS, Jones JA, Barbour JR, Stroud RE, Clark LL, Kaplan BS, Zeeshan A, Bavaria JE, Gorman JH, 3rd, Spinale FG, Gorman RC. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and endogenous inhibitors within ascending aortic aneurysms of patients with marfan syndrome. *Circulation*. 2006;114:I365-370
- 116. Tung WS, Lee JK, Thompson RW. Simultaneous analysis of 1176 gene products in normal human aorta and abdominal aortic aneurysms using a membrane-based complementary DNA expression array. *J Vasc Surg.* 2001;34:143-150
- 117. Wilton E, Bland M, Thompson M, Jahangiri M. Matrix metalloproteinase expression in the ascending aorta and aortic valve. *Interactive cardiovascular and thoracic surgery*. 2008;7:37-40
- 118. Brown PD, Wakefield LM, Levinson AD, Sporn MB. Physicochemical activation of recombinant latent transforming growth factor-beta's 1, 2, and 3. *Growth factors (Chur, Switzerland)*. 1990;3:35-43
- 119. Lawrence DA, Pircher R, Jullien P. Conversion of a high molecular weight latent beta-tgf from chicken embryo fibroblasts into a low molecular weight active beta-tgf under acidic conditions. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1985;133:1026-1034
- 120. Barcellos-Hoff MH, Dix TA. Redox-mediated activation of latent transforming growth factor-beta 1. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.).* 1996;10:1077-1083
- 121. Yu Q, Stamenkovic I. Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates tgf-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis. *Genes & development*. 2000;14:163-176
- 122. Tatti O, Vehvilainen P, Lehti K, Keski-Oja J. Mt1-mmp releases latent tgfbeta1 from endothelial cell extracellular matrix via proteolytic processing of ltbp-1. *Experimental cell research*. 2008;314:2501-2514
- 123. Spinale FG, Escobar GP, Mukherjee R, Zavadzkas JA, Saunders SM, Jeffords LB, Leone AM, Beck C, Bouges S, Stroud RE. Cardiac-restricted overexpression of membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase in mice:

Effects on myocardial remodeling with aging. *Circulation. Heart failure*. 2009;2:351-360

- 124. Jenkins G. The role of proteases in transforming growth factor-beta activation. *The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology*. 2008;40:1068-1078
- 125. Saharinen J, Hyytiainen M, Taipale J, Keski-Oja J. Latent transforming growth factor-beta binding proteins (ltbps)--structural extracellular matrix proteins for targeting tgf-beta action. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*. 1999;10:99-117
- 126. Kucich U, Rosenbloom JC, Abrams WR, Rosenbloom J. Transforming growth factor-beta stabilizes elastin mrna by a pathway requiring active smads, protein kinase c-delta, and p38. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*. 2002;26:183-188
- 127. Liu JM, Davidson JM. The elastogenic effect of recombinant transforming growth factor-beta on porcine aortic smooth muscle cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1988;154:895-901
- 128. Lindsay ME, Dietz HC. Lessons on the pathogenesis of aneurysm from heritable conditions. *Nature*. 2011;473:308-316
- 129. You HJ, Bruinsma MW, How T, Ostrander JH, Blobe GC. The type iii tgfbeta receptor signals through both smad3 and the p38 map kinase pathways to contribute to inhibition of cell proliferation. *Carcinogenesis*. 2007;28:2491-2500
- 130. Lebrin F, Deckers M, Bertolino P, Ten Dijke P. Tgf-beta receptor function in the endothelium. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2005;65:599-608
- 131. Bertolino P, Deckers M, Lebrin F, ten Dijke P. Transforming growth factor-beta signal transduction in angiogenesis and vascular disorders. *Chest.* 2005;128:585s-590s
- Remy I, Montmarquette A, Michnick SW. Pkb/akt modulates tgf-beta signalling through a direct interaction with smad3. *Nature cell biology*. 2004;6:358-365
- 133. Conery AR, Cao Y, Thompson EA, Townsend CM, Jr., Ko TC, Luo K. Akt interacts directly with smad3 to regulate the sensitivity to tgf-beta induced apoptosis. *Nature cell biology*. 2004;6:366-372
- 134. Kulkarni AB, Huh CG, Becker D, Geiser A, Lyght M, Flanders KC, Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Ward JM, Karlsson S. Transforming growth factor beta 1 null mutation in mice causes excessive inflammatory response and early death. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1993;90:770-774
- 135. Shull MM, Ormsby I, Kier AB, Pawlowski S, Diebold RJ, Yin M, Allen R, Sidman C, Proetzel G, Calvin D, et al. Targeted disruption of the mouse transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene results in multifocal inflammatory disease. *Nature*. 1992;359:693-699
- 136. Baas AF, Medic J, van 't Slot R, de Kovel CG, Zhernakova A, Geelkerken RH, Kranendonk SE, van Sterkenburg SM, Grobbee DE, Boll AP, Wijmenga C, Blankensteijn JD, Ruigrok YM. Association of the tgf-beta

receptor genes with abdominal aortic aneurysm. European journal of human genetics : EJHG. 2010;18:240-244

- 137. Fukui D, Miyagawa S, Soeda J, Tanaka K, Urayama H, Kawasaki S. Overexpression of transforming growth factor beta1 in smooth muscle cells of human abdominal aortic aneurysm. *European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery*. 2003;25:540-545
- 138. Matt P, Schoenhoff F, Habashi J, Holm T, Van Erp C, Loch D, Carlson OD, Griswold BF, Fu Q, De Backer J, Loeys B, Huso DL, McDonnell NB, Van Eyk JE, Dietz HC. Circulating transforming growth factor-beta in marfan syndrome. *Circulation*. 2009;120:526-532
- 139. Loeys BL, Chen J, Neptune ER, Judge DP, Podowski M, Holm T, Meyers J, Leitch CC, Katsanis N, Sharifi N, Xu FL, Myers LA, Spevak PJ, Cameron DE, De Backer J, Hellemans J, Chen Y, Davis EC, Webb CL, Kress W, Coucke P, Rifkin DB, De Paepe AM, Dietz HC. A syndrome of altered cardiovascular, craniofacial, neurocognitive and skeletal development caused by mutations in tgfbr1 or tgfbr2. *Nature genetics*. 2005;37:275-281
- 140. Boileau C, Jondeau G, Mizuguchi T, Matsumoto N. Molecular genetics of marfan syndrome. *Current opinion in cardiology*. 2005;20:194-200
- 141. Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Assoian RK, Smith JM, Roche NS, Wakefield LM, Heine UI, Liotta LA, Falanga V, Kehrl JH, et al. Transforming growth factor type beta: Rapid induction of fibrosis and angiogenesis in vivo and stimulation of collagen formation in vitro. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1986;83:4167-4171
- 142. Halme T, Savunen T, Aho H, Vihersaari T, Penttinen R. Elastin and collagen in the aortic wall: Changes in the marfan syndrome and annuloaortic ectasia. *Experimental and molecular pathology*. 1985;43:1-12
- 143. Lindeman JH, Ashcroft BA, Beenakker JW, van Es M, Koekkoek NB, Prins FA, Tielemans JF, Abdul-Hussien H, Bank RA, Oosterkamp TH. Distinct defects in collagen microarchitecture underlie vessel-wall failure in advanced abdominal aneurysms and aneurysms in marfan syndrome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010;107:862-865
- 144. Rodriguez-Vita J, Sanchez-Lopez E, Esteban V, Ruperez M, Egido J, Ruiz-Ortega M. Angiotensin ii activates the smad pathway in vascular smooth muscle cells by a transforming growth factor-beta-independent mechanism. *Circulation*. 2005;111:2509-2517
- 145. Naito T, Masaki T, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Tanji C, Yorioka N, Kohno N. Angiotensin ii induces thrombospondin-1 production in human mesangial cells via p38 mapk and jnk: A mechanism for activation of latent tgfbeta1. American journal of physiology. Renal physiology. 2004;286:F278-287

- 146. Carvajal G, Rodriguez-Vita J, Rodrigues-Diez R, Sanchez-Lopez E, Ruperez M, Cartier C, Esteban V, Ortiz A, Egido J, Mezzano SA, Ruiz-Ortega M. Angiotensin ii activates the smad pathway during epithelial mesenchymal transdifferentiation. *Kidney international*. 2008;74:585-595
- 147. Wamsley-Davis A, Padda R, Truong LD, Tsao CC, Zhang P, Sheikh-Hamad D. At1a-mediated activation of kidney jnk1 and smad2 in obstructive uropathy: Preservation of kidney tissue mass using candesartan. *American journal of physiology. Renal physiology*. 2004;287:F474-480
- 148. Moriguchi Y, Matsubara H, Mori Y, Murasawa S, Masaki H, Maruyama K, Tsutsumi Y, Shibasaki Y, Tanaka Y, Nakajima T, Oda K, Iwasaka T. Angiotensin ii-induced transactivation of epidermal growth factor receptor regulates fibronectin and transforming growth factor-beta synthesis via transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms. *Circulation research*. 1999;84:1073-1084
- 149. Hao J, Wang B, Jones SC, Jassal DS, Dixon IM. Interaction between angiotensin ii and smad proteins in fibroblasts in failing heart and in vitro. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2000;279:H3020-3030
- 150. Mehta PK, Griendling KK. Angiotensin ii cell signaling: Physiological and pathological effects in the cardiovascular system. *American journal of physiology. Cell physiology*. 2007;292:C82-97
- 151. Hall JE. Historical perspective of the renin-angiotensin system. *Molecular biotechnology*. 2003;24:27-39
- 152. Tewksbury DA, Dart RA, Travis J. The amino terminal amino acid sequence of human angiotensinogen. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 1981;99:1311-1315
- 153. Siragy HM, Carey RM. Role of the intrarenal renin-angiotensinaldosterone system in chronic kidney disease. *American journal of nephrology*. 2010;31:541-550
- 154. Santos RA, Ferreira AJ, Simoes ESAC. Recent advances in the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2-angiotensin(1-7)-mas axis. *Experimental physiology*. 2008;93:519-527
- 155. Ferrario CM. Ace2: More of ang-(1-7) or less ang ii? *Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension*. 2011;20:1-6
- 156. Barki-Harrington L, Luttrell LM, Rockman HA. Dual inhibition of betaadrenergic and angiotensin ii receptors by a single antagonist: A functional role for receptor-receptor interaction in vivo. *Circulation*. 2003;108:1611-1618
- 157. AbdAlla S, Lother H, Quitterer U. At1-receptor heterodimers show enhanced g-protein activation and altered receptor sequestration. *Nature*. 2000;407:94-98
- 158. Paul M, Poyan Mehr A, Kreutz R. Physiology of local renin-angiotensin systems. *Physiological reviews*. 2006;86:747-803
- 159. Kaschina E, Unger T. Angiotensin at1/at2 receptors: Regulation, signalling and function. *Blood pressure*. 2003;12:70-88

- 160. Batenburg WW, Tom B, Schuijt MP, Danser AH. Angiotensin ii type 2 receptor-mediated vasodilation. Focus on bradykinin, no and endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor(s). *Vascular pharmacology*. 2005;42:109-118
- 161. Batenburg WW, Garrelds IM, Bernasconi CC, Juillerat-Jeanneret L, van Kats JP, Saxena PR, Danser AH. Angiotensin ii type 2 receptor-mediated vasodilation in human coronary microarteries. *Circulation*. 2004;109:2296-2301
- 162. Santos RA, Simoes e Silva AC, Maric C, Silva DM, Machado RP, de Buhr I, Heringer-Walther S, Pinheiro SV, Lopes MT, Bader M, Mendes EP, Lemos VS, Campagnole-Santos MJ, Schultheiss HP, Speth R, Walther T. Angiotensin-(1-7) is an endogenous ligand for the g protein-coupled receptor mas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2003;100:8258-8263
- 163. Ferrario CM, Trask AJ, Jessup JA. Advances in biochemical and functional roles of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 and angiotensin-(1-7) in regulation of cardiovascular function. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology.* 2005;289:H2281-2290
- 164. Santos RA, Frezard F, Ferreira AJ. Angiotensin-(1-7): Blood, heart, and blood vessels. *Current medicinal chemistry. Cardiovascular and hematological agents.* 2005;3:383-391
- 165. Lemarie CA, Schiffrin EL. The angiotensin ii type 2 receptor in cardiovascular disease. *Journal of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system : JRAAS*. 2010;11:19-31
- 166. Schena M, Mulatero P, Schiavone D, Mengozzi G, Tesio L, Chiandussi L, Veglio F. Vasoactive hormones induce nitric oxide synthase mrna expression and nitric oxide production in human endothelial cells and monocytes. *American journal of hypertension*. 1999;12:388-397
- 167. Schieffer B, Schieffer E, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Hilfiker A, Kovanen PT, Kaartinen M, Nussberger J, Harringer W, Drexler H. Expression of angiotensin ii and interleukin 6 in human coronary atherosclerotic plaques: Potential implications for inflammation and plaque instability. *Circulation*. 2000;101:1372-1378
- 168. Ruiz-Ortega M, Lorenzo O, Ruperez M, Konig S, Wittig B, Egido J. Angiotensin ii activates nuclear transcription factor kappab through at(1) and at(2) in vascular smooth muscle cells: Molecular mechanisms. *Circulation research*. 2000;86:1266-1272
- 169. Lips DJ, deWindt LJ, van Kraaij DJ, Doevendans PA. Molecular determinants of myocardial hypertrophy and failure: Alternative pathways for beneficial and maladaptive hypertrophy. *Eur Heart J*. 2003;24:883-896
- 170. Dorn GW, 2nd, Force T. Protein kinase cascades in the regulation of cardiac hypertrophy. *J Clin Invest*. 2005;115:527-537
- 171. Kato H, Suzuki H, Tajima S, Ogata Y, Tominaga T, Sato A, Saruta T. Angiotensin ii stimulates collagen synthesis in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. *Journal of hypertension*. 1991;9:17-22

- 172. Mifune M, Sasamura H, Shimizu-Hirota R, Miyazaki H, Saruta T. Angiotensin ii type 2 receptors stimulate collagen synthesis in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension*. 2000;36:845-850
- 173. Arenas IA, Xu Y, Lopez-Jaramillo P, Davidge ST. Angiotensin ii-induced mmp-2 release from endothelial cells is mediated by tnf-alpha. *American journal of physiology. Cell physiology*. 2004;286:C779-784
- 174. Luchtefeld M, Grote K, Grothusen C, Bley S, Bandlow N, Selle T, Struber M, Haverich A, Bavendiek U, Drexler H, Schieffer B. Angiotensin ii induces mmp-2 in a p47phox-dependent manner. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 2005;328:183-188
- 175. Pons M, Cousins SW, Alcazar O, Striker GE, Marin-Castano ME. Angiotensin ii-induced mmp-2 activity and mmp-14 and basigin protein expression are mediated via the angiotensin ii receptor type 1-mitogenactivated protein kinase 1 pathway in retinal pigment epithelium: Implications for age-related macular degeneration. *The American journal* of pathology. 2011;178:2665-2681
- 176. Wang M, Takagi G, Asai K, Resuello RG, Natividad FF, Vatner DE, Vatner SF, Lakatta EG. Aging increases aortic mmp-2 activity and angiotensin ii in nonhuman primates. *Hypertension*. 2003;41:1308-1316
- 177. Basu R, Fan D, Kandalam V, Lee J, Das S, Wang X, Baldwin TA, Oudit GY, Kassiri Z. Loss of timp3 leads to abdominal aortic aneurysm formation in response to angiotensin ii. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2012
- 178. Uchida HA, Poduri A, Subramanian V, Cassis LA, Daugherty A. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator deficiency in bone marrow-derived cells augments rupture of angiotensin ii-induced abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31:2845-2852
- 179. Police SB, Thatcher SE, Charnigo R, Daugherty A, Cassis LA. Obesity promotes inflammation in periaortic adipose tissue and angiotensin iiinduced abdominal aortic aneurysm formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29:1458-1464
- 180. Anidjar S, Salzmann JL, Gentric D, Lagneau P, Camilleri JP, Michel JB. Elastase-induced experimental aneurysms in rats. *Circulation*. 1990;82:973-981
- 181. Ikonomidis JS, Gibson WC, Gardner J, Sweterlitsch S, Thompson RP, Mukherjee R, Spinale FG. A murine model of thoracic aortic aneurysms. *The Journal of surgical research*. 2003;115:157-163
- 182. Longo GM, Xiong W, Greiner TC, Zhao Y, Fiotti N, Baxter BT. Matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9 work in concert to produce aortic aneurysms. J Clin Invest. 2002;110:625-632
- 183. Bartoli MA, Parodi FE, Chu J, Pagano MB, Mao D, Baxter BT, Buckley C, Ennis TL, Thompson RW. Localized administration of doxycycline suppresses aortic dilatation in an experimental mouse model of abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Annals of vascular surgery*. 2006;20:228-236
- 184. Makowski GS, Ramsby ML. Autoactivation profiles of calcium-dependent matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 in inflammatory synovial fluid: Effect

of pyrophosphate and bisphosphonates. *Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry*. 2005;358:182-191

- 185. Munshi HG, Wu YI, Ariztia EV, Stack MS. Calcium regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-mediated migration in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2002;277:41480-41488
- Urquhart J, Fara JW, Willis KL. Rate-controlled delivery systems in drug and hormone research. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*. 1984;24:199-236
- 187. Tomaschitz A, Pilz S, Ritz E, Morganti A, Grammer T, Amrein K, Boehm BO, Marz W. Associations of plasma renin with 10-year cardiovascular mortality, sudden cardiac death, and death due to heart failure. *Eur Heart* J. 2011;32:2642-2649
- 188. Touyz RM. Intracellular mechanisms involved in vascular remodelling of resistance arteries in hypertension: Role of angiotensin ii. *Experimental physiology*. 2005;90:449-455
- 189. Ikonomidis JS, Gibson WC, Butler JE, McClister DM, Sweterlitsch SE, Thompson RP, Mukherjee R, Spinale FG. Effects of deletion of the tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases-1 gene on the progression of murine thoracic aortic aneurysms. *Circulation*. 2004;110:II268-273
- 190. Rodriguez C, Martinez-Gonzalez J, Raposo B, Alcudia JF, Guadall A, Badimon L. Regulation of lysyl oxidase in vascular cells: Lysyl oxidase as a new player in cardiovascular diseases. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2008;79:7-13
- 191. Maki JM, Rasanen J, Tikkanen H, Sormunen R, Makikallio K, Kivirikko KI, Soininen R. Inactivation of the lysyl oxidase gene lox leads to aortic aneurysms, cardiovascular dysfunction, and perinatal death in mice. *Circulation*. 2002;106:2503-2509
- 192. Habashi JP, Judge DP, Holm TM, Cohn RD, Loeys BL, Cooper TK, Myers L, Klein EC, Liu G, Calvi C, Podowski M, Neptune ER, Halushka MK, Bedja D, Gabrielson K, Rifkin DB, Carta L, Ramirez F, Huso DL, Dietz HC. Losartan, an at1 antagonist, prevents aortic aneurysm in a mouse model of marfan syndrome. *Science*. 2006;312:117-121
- 193. Xiong W, Meisinger T, Knispel R, Worth JM, Baxter BT. Mmp-2 regulates erk1/2 phosphorylation and aortic dilatation in marfan syndrome. *Circulation research*. 2012;110:e92-e101
- 194. Tangirala RK, Rubin EM, Palinski W. Quantitation of atherosclerosis in murine models - correlation between lesions in the aortic origin and in the entire aorta, and differences in the extent of lesions between sexes in ldl receptor-deficient and apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. *J Lipid Res.* 1995;36:2320-2328
- 195. Silence J, Lupu F, Collen D, Lijnen HR. Persistence of atherosclerotic plaque but reduced aneurysm formation in mice with stromelysin-1 (mmp-3) gene inactivation. *Arterioscl Throm Vas.* 2001;21:1440-1445
- 196. Wu G, Chen T, Shahsafaei A, Hu W, Bronson RT, Shi GP, Halperin JA, Aktas H, Qin X. Complement regulator cd59 protects against angiotensin ii-induced abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice. *Circulation*. 2010;121:1338-1346

- 197. Itoh T, Tanioka M, Yoshida H, Yoshioka T, Nishimoto H, Itohara S. Reduced angiogenesis and tumor progression in gelatinase a-deficient mice. *Cancer research*. 1998;58:1048-1051
- 198. Samolov B, Steen B, Seregard S, van der Ploeg I, Montan P, Kvanta A. Delayed inflammation-associated corneal neovascularization in mmp-2-deficient mice. *Experimental eye research*. 2005;80:159-166
- 199. Manning MW, Cassis LA, Daugherty A. Differential effects of doxycycline, a broad-spectrum matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor, on angiotensin ii-induced atherosclerosis and abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23:483-488
- 200. Satoh K, Nigro P, Matoba T, O'Dell MR, Cui Z, Shi X, Mohan A, Yan C, Abe J, Illig KA, Berk BC. Cyclophilin a enhances vascular oxidative stress and the development of angiotensin ii-induced aortic aneurysms. *Nat Med.* 2009;15:649-656
- 201. Wang Y, Ait-Oufella H, Herbin O, Bonnin P, Ramkhelawon B, Taleb S, Huang J, Offenstadt G, Combadiere C, Renia L, Johnson JL, Tharaux PL, Tedgui A, Mallat Z. Tgf-beta activity protects against inflammatory aortic aneurysm progression and complications in angiotensin ii-infused mice. J Clin Invest. 2010;120:422-432
- 202. Sampson UK, Perati PR, Prins PA, Pham W, Liu Z, Harrell FE, Jr., Linton MF, Gore JC, Kon V, Fazio S. Quantitative estimates of the variability of in vivo sonographic measurements of the mouse aorta for studies of abdominal aortic aneurysms and related arterial diseases. *Journal of ultrasound in medicine : official journal of the American Institute of Ultrasound in Medicine*. 2011;30:773-784
- 203. Ye P, Chen W, Wu J, Huang X, Li J, Wang S, Liu Z, Wang G, Yang X, Zhang P, Lv Q, Xia J. Gm-csf contributes to aortic aneurysms resulting from smad3 deficiency. *J Clin Invest*. 2013;123:2317-2331
- 204. Ruddy JM, Jones JA, Spinale FG, Ikonomidis JS. Regional heterogeneity within the aorta: Relevance to aneurysm disease. *J Thorac Cardiov Sur.* 2008;136:1123-1130
- 205. Pagni S, Ganzel BL, Williams M, Slater AD, Trivedi JR. Inflammatory aneurysms of the ascending aorta: Diagnosis and surgical treatment. *Journal of cardiac surgery*. 2012;27:70-74
- 206. Yoshida M, Mukohara N, Honda T, Ozaki N, Shida T. Inflammatory aneurysm of the ascending aorta: Report of a case. *Surgery today*. 2007;37:794-797
- 207. Gong Y, Hart E, Shchurin A, Hoover-Plow J. Inflammatory macrophage migration requires mmp-9 activation by plasminogen in mice. *J Clin Invest*. 2008;118:3012-3024
- 208. Warner RL, Bhagavathula N, Nerusu KC, Lateef H, Younkin E, Johnson KJ, Varani J. Matrix metalloproteinases in acute inflammation: Induction of mmp-3 and mmp-9 in fibroblasts and epithelial cells following exposure to pro-inflammatory mediators in vitro. *Experimental and molecular pathology*. 2004;76:189-195

- 209. Wang X, LeMaire SA, Chen L, Shen YH, Gan Y, Bartsch H, Carter SA, Utama B, Ou H, Coselli JS, Wang XL. Increased collagen deposition and elevated expression of connective tissue growth factor in human thoracic aortic dissection. *Circulation*. 2006;114:I200-205
- Tajima S. Modulation of elastin expression and cell proliferation in vascular smooth muscle cells in vitro. *The Keio journal of medicine*. 1996;45:58-62
- 211. Mochizuki S, Brassart B, Hinek A. Signaling pathways transduced through the elastin receptor facilitate proliferation of arterial smooth muscle cells. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2002;277:44854-44863
- 212. Li DY, Brooke B, Davis EC, Mecham RP, Sorensen LK, Boak BB, Eichwald E, Keating MT. Elastin is an essential determinant of arterial morphogenesis. *Nature*. 1998;393:276-280
- 213. Wagenseil JE, Nerurkar NL, Knutsen RH, Okamoto RJ, Li DY, Mecham RP. Effects of elastin haploinsufficiency on the mechanical behavior of mouse arteries. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2005;289:H1209-1217
- 214. Faury G, Pezet M, Knutsen RH, Boyle WA, Heximer SP, McLean SE, Minkes RK, Blumer KJ, Kovacs A, Kelly DP, Li DY, Starcher B, Mecham RP. Developmental adaptation of the mouse cardiovascular system to elastin haploinsufficiency. *J Clin Invest*. 2003;112:1419-1428
- 215. Kuang PP, Zhang XH, Rich CB, Foster JA, Subramanian M, Goldstein RH. Activation of elastin transcription by transforming growth factor-beta in human lung fibroblasts. *American journal of physiology. Lung cellular and molecular physiology*. 2007;292:L944-952
- 216. Kahari VM, Olsen DR, Rhudy RW, Carrillo P, Chen YQ, Uitto J. Transforming growth factor-beta up-regulates elastin gene expression in human skin fibroblasts. Evidence for post-transcriptional modulation. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology*. 1992;66:580-588
- 217. Kothapalli CR, Gacchina CE, Ramamurthi A. Utility of hyaluronan oligomers and transforming growth factor-beta1 factors for elastic matrix regeneration by aneurysmal rat aortic smooth muscle cells. *Tissue engineering*. *Part A*. 2009;15:3247-3260
- 218. Jones JA, Ruddy JM, Bouges S, Zavadzkas JA, Brinsa TA, Stroud RE, Mukherjee R, Spinale FG, Ikonomidis JS. Alterations in membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase abundance after the induction of thoracic aortic aneurysm in a murine model. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2010;299:H114-124
- 219. Spinale FG, Mukherjee R, Zavadzkas JA, Koval CN, Bouges S, Stroud RE, Dobrucki LW, Sinusas AJ. Cardiac restricted overexpression of membrane type-1 matrix metalloproteinase causes adverse myocardial remodeling following myocardial infarction. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2010;285:30316-30327

- 220. Sherratt MJ, Baldock C, Haston JL, Holmes DF, Jones CJ, Shuttleworth CA, Wess TJ, Kielty CM. Fibrillin microfibrils are stiff reinforcing fibres in compliant tissues. *Journal of molecular biology*. 2003;332:183-193
- 221. Rock MJ, Cain SA, Freeman LJ, Morgan A, Mellody K, Marson A, Shuttleworth CA, Weiss AS, Kielty CM. Molecular basis of elastic fiber formation. Critical interactions and a tropoelastin-fibrillin-1 cross-link. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2004;279:23748-23758
- 222. Merk DR, Chin JT, Dake BA, Maegdefessel L, Miller MO, Kimura N, Tsao PS, Iosef C, Berry GJ, Mohr FW, Spin JM, Alvira CM, Robbins RC, Fischbein MP. Mir-29b participates in early aneurysm development in marfan syndrome. *Circulation research*. 2012;110:312-324
- 223. Hill CH, Mecham R, Starcher B. Fibrillin-2 defects impair elastic fiber assembly in a homocysteinemic chick model. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2002;132:2143-2150
- 224. Loeys BL, Schwarze U, Holm T, Callewaert BL, Thomas GH, Pannu H, De Backer JF, Oswald GL, Symoens S, Manouvrier S, Roberts AE, Faravelli F, Greco MA, Pyeritz RE, Milewicz DM, Coucke PJ, Cameron DE, Braverman AC, Byers PH, De Paepe AM, Dietz HC. Aneurysm syndromes caused by mutations in the tgf-beta receptor. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2006;355:788-798
- 225. Chung AW, Yang HH, Radomski MW, van Breemen C. Long-term doxycycline is more effective than atenolol to prevent thoracic aortic aneurysm in marfan syndrome through the inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9. *Circulation research*. 2008;102:e73-85
- 226. Benitez PC, Scian R, Jose Comerci D, Serantes DR, Vanzulli S, Fossati CA, Giambartolomei GH, Delpino MV. Brucella abortus induces collagen deposition and mmp-9 down-modulation in hepatic stellate cells via tgf-beta1 production. *The American journal of pathology*. 2013
- 227. Kucich U, Rosenbloom JC, Abrams WR, Rosenbloom J. Transforming growth factor-beta stabilizes elastin mrna by a pathway requiring active smads, protein kinase c-delta, and p38. *Am J Resp Cell Mol.* 2002;26:183-188
- 228. Ankeny RF, Thourani VH, Weiss D, Vega JD, Taylor WR, Nerem RM, Jo H. Preferential activation of smad1/5/8 on the fibrosa endothelium in calcified human aortic valves--association with low bmp antagonists and smad6. *PloS one*. 2011;6:e20969
- 229. ten Dijke P, Arthur HM. Extracellular control of tgfbeta signalling in vascular development and disease. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*. 2007;8:857-869
- 230. Feng XH, Derynck R. Specificity and versatility in tgf-beta signaling through smads. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology*. 2005;21:659-693
- 231. Pappano WN, Steiglitz BM, Scott IC, Keene DR, Greenspan DS. Use of bmp1/tll1 doubly homozygous null mice and proteomics to identify and validate in vivo substrates of bone morphogenetic protein 1/tolloid-like metalloproteinases. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2003;23:4428-4438

- 232. Pezzini A, Del Zotto E, Giossi A, Volonghi I, Costa P, Padovani A. Transforming growth factor beta signaling perturbation in the loeys-dietz syndrome. *Current medicinal chemistry*. 2012;19:454-460
- 233. Iwata J, Hacia JG, Suzuki A, Sanchez-Lara PA, Urata M, Chai Y. Modulation of noncanonical tgf-beta signaling prevents cleft palate in tgfbr2 mutant mice. *J Clin Invest*. 2012;122:873-885
- 234. Jones JA, Barbour JR, Stroud RE, Bouges S, Stephens SL, Spinale FG, Ikonomidis JS. Altered transforming growth factor-beta signaling in a murine model of thoracic aortic aneurysm. *J Vasc Res.* 2008;45:457-468
- 235. Traub O, Berk BC. Laminar shear stress: Mechanisms by which endothelial cells transduce an atheroprotective force. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18:677-685
- 236. Asahara T, Bauters C, Pastore C, Kearney M, Rossow S, Bunting S, Ferrara N, Symes JF, Isner JM. Local delivery of vascular endothelial growth factor accelerates reendothelialization and attenuates intimal hyperplasia in balloon-injured rat carotid artery. *Circulation*. 1995;91:2793-2801
- 237. World CJ, Garin G, Berk B. Vascular shear stress and activation of inflammatory genes. *Current atherosclerosis reports*. 2006;8:240-244
- 238. Okamoto T, Akaike T, Sawa T, Miyamoto Y, van der Vliet A, Maeda H. Activation of matrix metalloproteinases by peroxynitrite-induced protein s-glutathiolation via disulfide s-oxide formation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2001;276:29596-29602
- 239. Viappiani S, Nicolescu AC, Holt A, Sawicki G, Crawford BD, Leon H, van Mulligen T, Schulz R. Activation and modulation of 72kda matrix metalloproteinase-2 by peroxynitrite and glutathione. *Biochem Pharmacol*. 2009;77:826-834
- 240. Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB, Bravata DM, Dai S, Ford ES, Fox CS, Franco S, Fullerton HJ, Gillespie C, Hailpern SM, Heit JA, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Kissela BM, Kittner SJ, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Magid D, Marcus GM, Marelli A, Matchar DB, McGuire DK, Mohler ER, Moy CS, Mussolino ME, Nichol G, Paynter NP, Schreiner PJ, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Turan TN, Virani SS, Wong ND, Woo D, Turner MB. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2013 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*. 2013;127:e6-e245
- 241. Basu R, Lee J, Morton JS, Takawale A, Fan D, Kandalam V, Wang X, Davidge ST, Kassiri Z. Timp3 is the primary timp to regulate agonistinduced vascular remodelling and hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2013;98:360-371
- 242. Matsumoto T, Hayashi K. Mechanical and dimensional adaptation of rat aorta to hypertension. *Journal of biomechanical engineering*. 1994;116:278-283
- 243. Hu JJ, Baek S, Humphrey JD. Stress-strain behavior of the passive basilar artery in normotension and hypertension. *Journal of biomechanics*. 2007;40:2559-2563

- 244. Mitchell GF, Lacourciere Y, Ouellet JP, Izzo JL, Jr., Neutel J, Kerwin LJ, Block AJ, Pfeffer MA. Determinants of elevated pulse pressure in middleaged and older subjects with uncomplicated systolic hypertension: The role of proximal aortic diameter and the aortic pressure-flow relationship. *Circulation*. 2003;108:1592-1598
- 245. Berry KL, Cameron JD, Dart AM, Dewar EM, Gatzka CD, Jennings GL, Liang YL, Reid CM, Kingwell BA. Large-artery stiffness contributes to the greater prevalence of systolic hypertension in elderly women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2004;52:368-373
- 246. Benetos A, Waeber B, Izzo J, Mitchell G, Resnick L, Asmar R, Safar M. Influence of age, risk factors, and cardiovascular and renal disease on arterial stiffness: Clinical applications. *American journal of hypertension*. 2002;15:1101-1108
- 247. Hu Y, Bock G, Wick G, Xu Q. Activation of pdgf receptor alpha in vascular smooth muscle cells by mechanical stress. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 1998;12:1135-1142
- 248. Thiele RH, Nemergut EC, Lynch C, 3rd. The physiologic implications of isolated alpha(1) adrenergic stimulation. *Anesthesia and analgesia*. 2011;113:284-296
- 249. Owens GK, Kumar MS, Wamhoff BR. Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. *Physiological reviews*. 2004;84:767-801
- 250. Owens GK. Regulation of differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Physiological reviews*. 1995;75:487-517
- 251. Porter KE, Riches K. The vascular smooth muscle cell: A therapeutic target in type 2 diabetes? *Clinical science (London, England : 1979)*. 2013;125:167-182
- 252. Milewicz DM, Guo DC, Tran-Fadulu V, Lafont AL, Papke CL, Inamoto S, Kwartler CS, Pannu H. Genetic basis of thoracic aortic aneurysms and dissections: Focus on smooth muscle cell contractile dysfunction. *Annual review of genomics and human genetics*. 2008;9:283-302
- 253. Borges LF, Gomez D, Quintana M, Touat Z, Jondeau G, Leclercq A, Meilhac O, Jandrot-Perrus M, Gutierrez PS, Freymuller E, Vranckx R, Michel JB. Fibrinolytic activity is associated with presence of cystic medial degeneration in aneurysms of the ascending aorta. *Histopathology*. 2010;57:917-932
- 254. Sho E, Sho M, Nanjo H, Kawamura K, Masuda H, Dalman RL. Comparison of cell-type-specific vs transmural aortic gene expression in experimental aneurysms. *J Vasc Surg*. 2005;41:844-852
- 255. Thompson RW, Liao S, Curci JA. Vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis in abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Coronary artery disease*. 1997;8:623-631
- 256. Friedman RC, Farh KK, Burge CB, Bartel DP. Most mammalian mrnas are conserved targets of micrornas. *Genome research*. 2009;19:92-105
- 257. Bartel DP. Micrornas: Target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell*. 2009;136:215-233

- 258. Volpers C, Kochanek S. Adenoviral vectors for gene transfer and therapy. *The journal of gene medicine*. 2004;6 Suppl 1:S164-171
- 259. Hartman ZC, Appledorn DM, Amalfitano A. Adenovirus vector induced innate immune responses: Impact upon efficacy and toxicity in gene therapy and vaccine applications. *Virus research*. 2008;132:1-14
- 260. Smith JS, Xu Z, Tian J, Palmer DJ, Ng P, Byrnes AP. The role of endosomal escape and mitogen-activated protein kinases in adenoviral activation of the innate immune response. *PloS one*. 2011;6:e26755
- 261. Muruve DA, Barnes MJ, Stillman IE, Libermann TA. Adenoviral gene therapy leads to rapid induction of multiple chemokines and acute neutrophil-dependent hepatic injury in vivo. *Human gene therapy*. 1999;10:965-976
- 262. Fei J, Viedt C, Soto U, Elsing C, Jahn L, Kreuzer J. Endothelin-1 and smooth muscle cells: Induction of jun amino-terminal kinase through an oxygen radical-sensitive mechanism. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2000;20:1244-1249
- 263. Mecham RP, Madaras J, McDonald JA, Ryan U. Elastin production by cultured calf pulmonary artery endothelial cells. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 1983;116:282-288
- 264. Elhage R, Arnal JF, Pieraggi MT, Duverger N, Fievet C, Faye JC, Bayard F. 17 beta-estradiol prevents fatty streak formation in apolipoprotein edeficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17:2679-2684
- 265. Hodgin JB, Krege JH, Reddick RL, Korach KS, Smithies O, Maeda N. Estrogen receptor alpha is a major mediator of 17beta-estradiol's atheroprotective effects on lesion size in apoe-/- mice. J Clin Invest. 2001;107:333-340
- 266. Lam KK, Cheng PY, Hsiao G, Chen SY, Shen HH, Yen MH, Lee YM. Estrogen deficiency-induced alterations of vascular mmp-2, mt1-mmp, and timp-2 in ovariectomized rats. *American journal of hypertension*. 2009;22:27-34
- 267. Gallagher PE, Li P, Lenhart JR, Chappell MC, Brosnihan KB. Estrogen regulation of angiotensin-converting enzyme mrna. *Hypertension*. 1999;33:323-328
- 268. Nickenig G, Baumer AT, Grohe C, Kahlert S, Strehlow K, Rosenkranz S, Stablein A, Beckers F, Smits JF, Daemen MJ, Vetter H, Bohm M. Estrogen modulates at1 receptor gene expression in vitro and in vivo. *Circulation*. 1998;97:2197-2201
- 269. Dubey RK, Oparil S, Imthurn B, Jackson EK. Sex hormones and hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2002;53:688-708
- 270. Barbour JR, Stroud RE, Lowry AS, Clark LL, Leone AM, Jones JA, Spinale FG, Ikonomidis JS. Temporal disparity in the induction of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases after thoracic aortic aneurysm formation. *The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery*. 2006;132:788-795